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Highlights
For the year ended 31 December
2021
Sales volume of cowhides (in thousand square feet)
Revenue (in thousand HK$)
Loss for the year (in thousand HK$)
Basic loss per share (in HK cent)

Key Indicators (As at 31 December)
Current Ratio
Quick Ratio
Debt to asset ratio
Total assets (in thousand HK$)
Net asset value per share (HK$)

2020

Change

14,949
191,404
(2,751)
(0.51)

-18.0%
+2.5%
-624.9%
-627.5%

2021

2020

Change

3.40 times
1.57 times
23.5%
228,284
0.32

3.13 times
2.17 times
88.9%
251,528
0.05

+8.6%
-27.3%
-73.6%
-9.2%
+540.0%

12,262
196,231
(19,943)
(3.71)
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Chairman’s Statement
RESULTS
I would like to present to the shareholders that the consolidated loss attributable to shareholders of Guangdong Tannery
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for year 2021 was HK$19,943,000
(2020: HK$2,751,000), representing an increase in loss of 624.9%. Basic loss per share was HK3.71cents (2020: HK0.51
cent).

DIVIDEND
The board of directors of the Company does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2021 (2020: Nil).

REVIEW
The Group has experienced the worst peak season since establishment during the second half of 2021, and severely
impacted by the shrinking demand, supply shock and weakening expectations attributed to the current economic
downturn in China. In order to address the above challenges, the Group adhered to the work deployment strategies
which formulated at the beginning of the year and upheld the core targets of maintaining a stable operation, the
Group abided by the main development line of ensuring production, stability and cash flow in operation, analyzed the
negative factors of the market with prudent and strive to overcome the adverse impact of the COVID-19 pandemic
(the “Pandemic”). The Group endeavor to maintain a stable production and operation, aiming to facilitate the smooth
implementation of asset restructuring.
With the preparation of a comprehensive budget at the beginning of the year, the Group set up various production and
operation targets and strategies. Due to the impact of the Pandemic, orders for footwear leather have been trimming
down and have caused the market demand for footwear leather continues to shrink. In response to the above difficulties,
the Group actively carried out innovative projects of ecological leather and sofa leather. Firstly, on 4 February 2021, the
Group successfully passed the British LWG Environmental Auditing Protocol Issue 6.7.0 and was accredited with Gold
Rating. The Group has also established business relationships with internationally renowned brands, and entered a new
phrase of increasing production from small batch trial production; secondly, the Group has established a production
capacity system for the production and sales of all products, and the Group has commenced innovative projects for sofa
leather, which adopted a two-way procedure that combined self-operation and subcontracting, thereby forming a rapid
mass production and market reputation has been quickly established. Attribute to the above measures, the Group was
able to stabilize the workforce, production and operation even with the shrinking orders for footwear leather in the
second half of the year.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
PROSPECTS
In 2022, the Group is expected to continue to implement new development concepts, strengthen management and
promote innovative development, aiming to establish a position as a high-quality leather enterprise in the market, thus
enhancing market competitiveness and development capabilities. “Implementation of product strategy, optimization of
production efficiency and upgrade of innovation” will be the operational strategy of the Group for the future. In the
meantime, the Group will make efforts on maintaining stable operation and enhancing operational efficiency, as well
as accomplishing prevention and control measures against the Pandemic. On the one hand, the Group will promote the
establishment of a rapid decision-making mechanism that is market-based, in order to shorten research and development,
promotion and mass production cycle of new products. On the other hand, the Group will vigorously promote reform of
system and mechanism, so as to optimize the layout of the production management. In order to strengthen the market
influence and improve work efficiency, the Group will effectively promote an incentive assessment mechanism guided by
market directions and market results as the criterion, and continuously optimize management system and mechanism.
Meanwhile, on top of maintaining traditional cowhide footwear leather production, the Group will continue to promote
the implementation of product systems of sofa leather and ecological leather product. The Group will also strengthen the
composition of technical team and promote product development and product line design in an orderly manner, in an
effort to form a comprehensive product system and realize product sales of all grades and stages without generating new
inventory. Furthermore, the Group will continue to further enhance its comprehensive risk management and strengthen
the establishment of mechanisms over key risks, including environmental protection, safety, funding and market, etc., so
as to ensure safe operation of the Group in a complex economic environment.

Zhou Hao
Chairman
Hong Kong, 25 March 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis
RESULTS
The Group’s consolidated loss attributable to shareholders for the year ended 31 December 2021 was HK$19,943,000,
representing an increase in loss of HK$17,192,000 or 624.9% from HK$2,751,000 for the corresponding period last year.
The net asset value of the Group as at 31 December 2021 was HK$174,536,000, representing an increase of
HK$146,592,000 and HK$148,272,000 as compared to the net asset value as at 31 December 2020 and 30 June 2021,
respectively.
The board of directors of the Company does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2021 (2020: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW
The Group has experienced the worst peak season since establishment during the second half of 2021, and were severely
impacted by the shrinking demand, supply shock and weakening expectations attributed to the current economic
downturn in China. In order to address the challenges above, the Group adhered to the work deployment strategies
formulated at the beginning of the year and upheld the core targets of maintaining a stable operation; the Group
abided by the main development principle of ensuring production, stability and cash flow in operation, analyzed the
negative factors of the market with prudence, and strived to overcome the adverse impacts of the pandemic. The Group
endeavored to maintain a stable production and operation, aiming to facilitate the smooth implementation of asset
restructuring.
In terms of environmental protection, to improve the management of hazardous wastes, the Group increased its
investment in environment improvement works during the year and rebuilt hazardous waste warehouses in accordance
with the Administrative Regulations on Hazardous Waste. The Group also built additional waste gas collection and
treatment facilities to process waste gas generated during production and sewage treatment, which effectively solved
the problem of unorganized emission of waste gas and greatly improved the working environment. At the same time,
the Group enhanced the communication and relationship with testing companies and solid waste treatment unit, and
increased the quality inspection of each part, thereby improving the efficiency of day-to-day operation for environmental
protection and handling the relevant environmental problems in a timely manner. The environmental protection pressure
has thus been greatly lessened.
During the year, the total production volume of cowhides was 11,706,000 sq.ft., representing a decrease of 1,352,000
sq.ft. or 10.4% as compared to 13,058,000 sq.ft. last year. The production volume of grey hides was 5,706 tons,
representing a decrease of 693 tons or 10.8% as compared to 6,399 tons last year. During the year, the total sales
volume of cowhides was 12,262,000 sq.ft., representing a decrease of 2,687,000 sq.ft. or 18.0% as compared to
14,949,000 sq.ft. last year. The sales volume of grey hides was 5,706 tons, representing a decrease of 693 tons or 10.8%
as compared to 6,399 tons last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
In 2021, the Group’s consolidated turnover was HK$196,231,000, representing an increase of HK$4,827,000 or 2.5%
from HK$191,404,000 last year, of which, the sales of cowhides was HK$171,485,000 (2020: HK$170,736,000),
representing an increase of 0.4%; grey hides and other products were HK$24,746,000 (2020: HK$20,668,000),
representing an increase of 19.7%. The Group maintained stable production and sales and adopted the marketing
strategy of production and sales of all products while releasing production capacity, so as to strictly control the inventory
time of new products. Through the continuous development of ecological leather and sofa leather projects, the Group’s
capabilities in innovation and research and development have been improved, thereby the sales revenue has increased as
compared to last year.
In terms of production and operation, under the impact of the Pandemic, the orders of footwear leather were declining,
the market demand of which continued to shrink. In response to the difficulties above, the Group actively carried out
innovative projects of ecological leather and sofa leather. Firstly, on 4 February 2021, the Company was certified by the
British LWG Environmental Auditing Protocol Issue 6.7.0 and was accredited with Gold Rating. It laid a solid foundation
for the Company to carry out export sales and sofa leather projects as well as to enter the high-end supply chain market.
The Group had also established business relationships with internationally renowned brands and entered a new phase
of increasing production from small batch trial production. Secondly, the Group had established a production capacity
system for the production and sales of all products. In terms of product development, the Group achieved a balanced
production in off and peak seasons and balanced sales across different regional markets, and implemented effective sales
strategies on different markets based on different product structures. Thirdly, the Group adopted a two-way procedure
that combined self-operation and processing for sofa leather, thereby forming a rapid mass production; market reputation
has thus been established quickly. Attribute to the above measures, the Group was able to stabilize production, workforce
and operation even with the shrinking orders for footwear leather in the second half of the year.
In terms of procurement, during the year, the Group had paid close attention to the development of the Pandemic, and
actively monitored the price trend of raw cowhides in the international market. The Group also made procurement with
reference to sales order, inventory and product structure. In addition, the Group conducted procurement of raw materials
according to the strategy of “procurement based on sales”. The Group actively explored various channels for raw
cowhides procurement, strategically reserved special leather chemicals and strived to reduce the procurement cost of the
raw materials. During the year, the total procurement amounted to HK$173,358,000, representing an increase of 30.8%
as compared to the same period last year.
As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s consolidated inventory amounted to HK$91,534,000 (31 December 2020:
HK$60,260,000), representing an increase of HK$31,274,000 or 51.9% as compared to that as at 31 December 2020.
The Group continued to take inventory reduction and achieving positive cashflow as a priority. Against the backdrop of
declining market demand, the Group controlled the purchase of raw leather and reduced inventory through multiple
channels. During the year, the Group actively expanded the eco-leather and sofa leather projects. By re-engineering
production techniques as well as product ratification and integration, the problem of slow-moving inventory was resolved.
The Group had reassessed the value of inventory based on its aging and net realizable value and made a reversal of net
provision for inventory of HK$2,106,000 for 2021 (2020: reversal of net provision for inventory of HK$31,244,000).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s property, plant and equipment amounted to HK$45,434,000 (31 December 2020:
HK$42,871,000), representing an increase of HK$2,563,000 or 6.0% as compared to that as at 31 December 2020. In
view of the loss of the Group’s operating results during the year, the recoverable amount of the plant and equipment
was calculated by using value in use based on the discounted cash flow method and an impairment loss on plant and
equipment of HK$4,499,000 was made for 2021 (2020: HK$3,183,000).

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Liquidity and Financial Resources
As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to HK$18,942,000 (31 December 2020:
HK$60,939,000), representing a decrease of HK$41,997,000 or 68.9% as compared to 31 December 2020, of which
17.1% were in Hong Kong dollars, 81.4% in Renminbi and 1.5% in United States dollars. Net cash outflow from
operating activities for the year was HK$39,405,000, which was mainly attributable to the increase in net cash outflow
from the increase in inventory. Net cash outflow from investing activities was HK$3,240,000, which was mainly
attributable to the increase in payment for purchase of machinery and equipment. Net cash outflow from financing
activities was HK$415,000, which was mainly attributable to the payment of rental expenses.
As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any interest-bearing borrowings (31 December 2020: HK$386,000,
which were United States dollar interest-bearing borrowings). The Group’s borrowings arose from short-term loans
provided by a bank, which were secured by bank deposits, buildings and leasehold land prepayments of HK$52,630,000
in total and charged at a floating rate. During 2020, the Group obtained a waiver of interests from the then immediate
holding company on its long-term unsecured loans of HK$137,200,000 for one year, commencing from 1 January 2020.
On 28 September 2021, the then immediate holding company entered into a deed of waiver to waive the rights and
entitlements of the Group to the repayment of the outstanding principal and interest accrued under its loans.
As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s gearing ratio of interest-bearing borrowings to shareholders’ equity plus interestbearing borrowings was zero (31 December 2020: 1.36%). The annual interest rate of the borrowings during the
period was approximately 1.3% to 2.0%. During the year, the Group’s interest expenses amounted to HK$1,994,000,
representing a decrease of 57.1% as compared with the same period of last year, which was mainly due to a waiver of
interests on its long-term unsecured loans in the fourth quarter.
As at 31 December 2021, the Group had banking facilities of HK$48,924,000 in total which are all unutilized; whereas
as at 31 December 2020, the Group had banking facilities and an unsecured loan facility from a fellow subsidiary of
HK$71,292,000, of which HK$386,000 was utilized and the remaining HK$70,906,000 was unutilized. Taking into
account the existing cash resources and available credit facilities, the Group has adequate financial resources to meet its
day-to-day operational requirements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Capital Expenditure
As at 31 December 2021, the net amount of non-current assets including property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets amounted to HK$58,056,000, representing an increase of HK$2,604,000 over the net value of HK$55,452,000 as
at 31 December 2020. The capital expenditure for the year amounted to HK$5,755,000 (2020: HK$5,769,000) in total,
which was mainly attributable to the payment of acquisition of machinery and equipment to meet the production needs
of the Group.

Pledge of Assets
As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s bank deposits of HK$123,000 (31 December 2020: HK$2,600,000), buildings of
HK$39,482,000 (31 December 2020: HK$37,392,000) and leasehold land prepayments of HK$12,622,000 (31 December
2020: HK$11,629,000) were pledged to a bank to secure general banking facilities.

Foreign Exchange Exposure
The assets, liabilities and transactions of the Group are basically denominated in Hong Kong dollars, United States dollars
or Renminbi. The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily from purchases from overseas suppliers that are
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the operations to which they relate. The currency giving
rise to this risk is mainly the United States dollars against Renminbi. The Group did not hedge its exposure to risks arising
from fluctuations in exchange rates during the year. Should the Group consider that its exposure to foreign currency risk
justifies hedging, it may use forward or hedging contracts to reduce the risks.

REMUNERATION POLICY FOR EMPLOYEES
As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 364 staff (31 December 2020: 392). The Group’s remuneration policy is based
on its operating results and the employees’ performance. The Group has adopted a performance-based appraisal scheme
for its employees and established an operation assessment mechanism focusing on “accountability and performance”.
Based on the Group’s operating efficiency, the incentive scheme provides bonuses to the management, key officers and
outstanding employees according to different ranking and individual performance, which effectively motivates employees
to make contribution. In addition, the Group offered social and medical insurance coverage and pension schemes to all
employees in different areas.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
(A) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Zhou Hao, aged 41, was appointed an Executive Director, the Chairman of the Board and the chairman and a
member of the nomination committee of the Company with effect from 16 December 2021. Mr. Zhou graduated
from the Department of International Commerce of Lingnan College, Sun Yat-sen University, the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”) and held a Bachelor degree in Economics (International Economic and Trading Discipline)
and a Master’s degree in Economics (Financial Discipline) conferred by Sun Yat-Sen University. He worked for the
Guangzhou Branch of Shanghai Pudong Development Bank from 2003 to 2005, and served in various positions
in 廣東省人民政府國有資產監督管理委員會 (State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of
Guangdong Provincial People’s Government*) from 2005 to 2018. He joined 廣東南粵集團有限公司 (Guangdong
Nam Yue Group Corporation Limited*) (“Nam Yue Group”), the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company,
in 2018 and served as Deputy Head and Head of the Investment and Development Department as well as the
Capital Operation Department. In addition, Mr. Zhou acted as an executive director and general manager of 廣東
南粵資本投資有限公司 (Guangdong Nam Yue Capital Investment Limited*) and Chairman of 廣東南粵健康科技有
限公司 (Guangdong Nam Yue Health Technology Limited*), both companies are subsidiaries of Nam Yue Group.
Currently, Mr. Zhou is the Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Macau Chinese Bank.
Mr. Sun Jun, aged 48, was appointed an Executive Director and the Managing Director of the Company on
5 February 2010. He is an economist in the PRC. He graduated from 西安公路學院 (Xian Highway College*) (now
known as 長安大學 (Chang’an University*)) and obtained a bachelor’s degree in 工程機械與起重運輸 (Mechanical
Engineering and Lifting Transportation Program*). Mr. Sun worked with certain companies of GDH Limited (“GDH”)
from November 2002 to August 2003. He then worked with the Company and its subsidiaries in September 2003
and was appointed to certain posts, including, inter alia, acting as assistant general manager, deputy general
manager and Chairman of the Company from March 2004 to December 2005, from July 2007 to February 2010
and from February 2016 to September 2019, respectively. Mr. Sun also acts as a director of certain wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company, including 徐州南海皮廠有限公司 (Xuzhou Nanhai Leather Factory Co., Ltd.*), 粵海制
革(徐州)有限公司 (Guangdong Tannery (Xuzhou) Limited*) and 徐州港威皮革有限公司 (Xuzhou Gangwei Leather
Co., Ltd.*).
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
(B)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Huang Junfeng, aged 41, was appointed a Non-Executive Director of the Company with effect from
23 December 2021. Mr. Huang graduated from the Naval University of Engineering of the PRC with a bachelor’s
degree in computer science and technology, and holds a master’s degree in public administration from the
Renmin University of China. From July 2001 to November 2020, he worked at the Immigration Inspection Station
in Zhuhai, the PRC, and served as deputy director of the technical department of the station. He also served as
deputy director of the Qingmao Immigration Inspection Station. Mr. Huang is currently the Head of the Operation
and Management Department (Legal Affairs Department) of 南粵(集團)有限公司 (Nam Yue (Group) Company
Limited*), the immediate controlling shareholder of the Company.
Mr. Kuang Hu, aged 44, was appointed a Non-Executive Director of the Company on 26 February 2016. He
was appointed as Chairman, an Executive Director and the chairman of the Nomination Committee of the
Company for the period from September 2019 to December 2021. Mr. Kuang graduated from the Department of
International Economics and Trading of Beijing Normal University, the PRC. He obtained a Master’s degree in World
Economics and a Doctoral degree in Finance from Sun Yat-sen University, the PRC. In July 2003, Mr. Kuang joined
廣東粵海控股集團有限公司 (Guangdong Holdings Limited*) (“Guangdong Holdings”) and worked in the Strategic
Development Department. From November 2012 to June 2015, he was appointed deputy general manager of the
Strategic Development Department of both Guangdong Holdings and GDH. He was appointed general manager of
the Operation Department of Guangdong Holdings and GDH for the period from July 2015 to August 2019; and
acted as deputy chief financial officer during the period from September 2019 to December 2021. He has been
the Executive Director and Vice Chairman of the Board of Guangdong Land Holdings Limited since 28 February
2022. He also acts as the chairman of 徐州南海皮廠有限公司 (Xuzhou Nanhai Leather Factory Co., Ltd.*), 粵海制
革(徐州)有限公司 (Guangdong Tannery (Xuzhou) Limited*) and 徐州港威皮革有限公司 (Xuzhou Gangwei Leather
Co., Ltd.*), which are wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
(C)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Yeung Man Lee BBS, JP, aged 62, was appointed an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company
on 14 August 2020. He is also a member of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Yeung has extensive experience in the building materials industry.
He is one of the drafters and a member of the editorial board of the industry standard of “Epoxy Resin-coated
Steel Bars” industry standard (JG3042-1997). This type of steel bar is widely used in construction industry and
infrastructure such as bridge sand railroads. Mr. Yeung is actively involved in community services in both China
and Hong Kong. He is currently serving as a director of the China Overseas Friendship Association, a member of
Friends of Hong Kong Association, the executive vice president of The Confucius Academy, Hong Kong, and vice
chairperson of Elderly Volunteers Coordination Committee of the Hong Kong Red Cross.
Mr. Leung Luen Cheong, aged 54, was appointed an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company on
14 August 2020. He is also the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Leung graduated from the University of Leicester
with first class-honours and holds a Master’s degree in Economics from the University of Oxford. He is a Chartered
Financial Analyst, a member of The Hong Kong Society of Financial Analysts and also holds the Diploma in
Investment Analysis and Portfolio Management. Mr. Leung worked for various international financial institutions
and has over 20 years working experience in fund performance, investment risk, global investment performance
standards and client reporting.
Mr. Yang Ge, aged 38, was appointed an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company on 14 August
2020. He is also the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of each of the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Yang obtained the Bachelor’s degree in Management
from Lanzhou Jiaotong University. He is a Certified Public Accountant in the PRC and has over 15 years working
experience in accounting firms. He is the Executive Director and Chief Accountant of the Guangdong branch
of Zhonghua Certified Public Accountants LLP. Mr. Yang is currently the independent director of Grandblue
Environment Co., Ltd. (stock code: 600323.SH), Guangdong Yizumi Precision Machinery Co., Ltd. (stock code:
300415.SZ) and PowerTECH Co., Ltd.

(D) SENIOR MANAGEMENT
The senior management of the Group comprises the Executive Directors above, namely Mr. Zhou Hao and Mr. Sun
Jun.
*
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Directors’ Report
The directors (the “Directors”) of Guangdong Tannery Limited (the “Company”) herein present their report and the
audited financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company acts as an investment holding company and provides corporate management services to its subsidiaries.
The Group is principally engaged in the processing and sale of semi-finished and finished leather. The activities of the
principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 1 to the financial statements on page 48 of this Annual Report.
There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 and the financial position of the Group at that date are
set out in the financial statements on pages 41 and 116 of this Annual Report.
No interim dividend was paid during the year and the board of Directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2021.

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company considers stable and sustainable returns to shareholders of the Company to be our goal. In deciding
whether to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the board of Directors of the Company takes
into account the Group’s earnings performance, financial position, investment requirements and future prospects. There
can be no assurance that a dividend will be proposed or declared in any given year.

BUSINESS REVIEW
A review of the business of the Group during the year and a discussion on the Group’s future business development are
provided in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 4 and 5 and in the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 6 to 9
of this Annual Report.
The financial risk management objective and policies of the Group are shown in note 31 to the financial statements on
pages 108 to 114 of this Annual Report.
An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial key performance indicators is provided in the
Highlights on page 3 of this Annual Report.
Discussion on the Group’s environmental issues and compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Company are contained in the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 6 to 9 and in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 24 to 35 of this Annual Report.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
The Company’s key relationships with its employees, customers and suppliers and business associates that have a
significant impact on the Company and on which the Company’s success depends are shown in the Management
Discussion and Analysis under “REMUNERATION POLICY FOR EMPLOYEES” section on page 9 and in the Corporate
Governance Report on page 24 to 35 of this Annual Report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The following section lists out the key risks and uncertainties faced by the Group. It is a non-exhaustive list and there may
be other risks and uncertainties apart from the key areas outlined below. In addition, this Annual Report is not intended
to provide any advice or opinion to any person on making investment in the securities of the Company. Investors should
exercise their own judgment or consult their investment advisors before investing in the securities of the Company.

Market risk
Market risk mainly arose from changes in internal and external environments, such as the impact of pandemic, changes
in macroeconomic conditions, market demand and supply, competition and relationships with business partners. In recent
year, as affected by the pandemic, the upstream and downstream industrial chains of the leather industry have been
affected to varying degrees. And there was a further enhancement in the de-capacity across the tannery industry and
environmental protection requirements in place, resulting in the shutting down or suspension of production of small and
medium footwear manufacturers, coupled with the changes in consumers’ spending behaviour, and the market demand
for footwear leather has been trimming down continuously. All these factors brought additional risks and uncertainties
to the Group’s production, operations and profitability. In this regard, the Group adhered to a market-oriented principle,
adjusted product structure and actively carried out product, In view of the continuous shrinking market demand for shoe
leather, we actively developed ecological leather and sofa leather which allow us to establish a efficient mass production
system and earned market recognition quickly. During the second half of the year when the orders for shoe leather
declined, the production and operation was stabilized with brand value and strong competitiveness in the industry having
been maintained.

Environmental compliance risk
Environmental compliance risk mainly arose from the prescriptive requirements under the environmental policies, laws
and regulation of the PRC. In recent years, the central and local governments constantly stepped-up law enforcement
in environmental protection, which in turn increased the operating costs and legal risks of the Group. In this regard, the
Group took active steps in promoting the application of clean production technology and ramping up the standard of
its waste processing technology in conjunction with enhancing communication with local governmental departments to
establish long-term, effective and good communication channels in a bid to ensure compliance of laws and regulations.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (CONTINUED)
Cost fluctuation risk
The cost elements of the Group mainly include the cost of cowhides, chemicals and labours and the expenses relating to
production. Price fluctuation of cowhides, under-development of products and inconsistent quality could possibly increase
the likelihood of inventory impairment risk for the Group. In this regard, the Group placed most stringent control on the
procurement size, and closely monitored dynamic changes and trends of price and quality in the market of raw materials.
By factoring in the current inventory status according to the order level, procumbent was made in a timely manner. In the
meantime, the Group conducted research on the sources of leather inventory, and focused on developing product type
for destocking, in an effort to mitigate inventory risk and alleviate cash flow pressure.

Liquidity risk
Insufficient fund availability is a significant constraint for enterprises to carry out necessary activities. When any liability
falls due, the contract performance risk may be increased. In recent years, demand in the tannery market witnessed a
year-on-year slippage. Downstream footwear manufactures were frequently found encountering difficulties in operations
or having shut the operations down, which could possibly result in receivables unable to be recovered. Instability in the
financial market may lead to an increase in interest rate and exchange rate risks. In this regard, in managing liquidity risk,
the Group has set out higher risk consciousness, timely monitor and analyze interest rate and exchange rate movements
in the market, create a model to calculate and forecast cash flows, ensure the formation of a cash flow-oriented
production, supply and sales model, take active steps in reducing current inventory level and guarantee cash flows for
normal business operations so as to mitigate the impact arising from cash flow fluctuations.

Environmental protection and legal compliance
The Group devotes to protect the environment where it operates. Also, it is committed to ensuring compliance of the
environmental standards and the relevant laws and regulations that are applicable to its business operation from time
to time. During the year, except for those disclosed in note 17b(ii) to the financial statements, the Group has obtained
the requisite permits and environmental approvals for its business and production facilities, and has complied with the
relevant laws, rules and regulations. For further information on the work done by the Group in respect to environmental
protection and legal compliance, please refer to the Management Discussion and Analysis in this annual report and the
2021 Environmental, Social and Governance Report.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
FINANCIAL SUMMARY
The following is a summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the audited financial statements. The summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

Results
Year ended 31 December
2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

2019
HK$’000

2018
HK$’000

2017
HK$’000

Revenue

196,231

191,404

178,020

238,317

322,146

Profit/(Loss) from operating activities
Finance costs

(17,692)
(1,994)

2,020
(4,644)

(33,234)
(5,694)

(75,062)
(5,973)

(92,074)
(6,808)

Loss before tax
Income tax credit/(expenses)

(19,686)
(257)

(2,624)
(127)

(38,928)
(66)

(81,035)
(206)

(98,882)
(741)

Loss for the year

(19,943)

(2,751)

(38,994)

(81,241)

(99,623)

Assets and liabilities
As at 31 December
2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

2019
HK$’000

2018
HK$’000

2017
HK$’000

Assets
Non-current assets
Current assets

58,056
170,228

55,452
196,076

53,692
185,041

58,516
226,220

78,200
342,715

Total assets

228,284

251,528

238,733

284,736

420,915

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

50,028
3,720

62,569
161,015

61,537
161,453

79,424
146,219

124,610
145,033

Total liabilities

53,748

223,584

222,990

225,643

269,643

174,536

27,944

15,743

59,093

151,272

Net Assets
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 11 to the
financial statements.

LOANS FROM THE THEN IMMEDIATE HOLDING COMPANY
GDH and the Group entered into the deed of waiver on 28 September 2021, pursuant to which, GDH had irrevocably
waived and cancelled the rights and entitlements of GDH to the repayment of the outstanding principal and interest
accrued and the Group had been irrevocably released and discharged from all covenants, undertaking and obligations
owed to GDH with effect from the date of the deed of waiver. Details of the loans from the then immediate holding
company of the Company as at 31 December 2021 are set out in note 19 to the financial statements.

SHARES ISSUED
Details of the Company’s shares issued during the year are set out in note 22 to the financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
During the year, the Company had not entered into any equity-linked agreements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s securities listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”) during the year.

RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
At 31 December 2021, no reserves of the Company, calculated in accordance with the provisions of sections 291, 297
and 299 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is available for cash distribution.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS
The Group did not make any charitable contributions during the year (2020: Nil).
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:
Executive Directors
Zhou Hao (Chairman) (appointed on 16 December 2021)
Sun Jun (Managing Director)
Non-Executive Directors
Huang Junfeng (appointed on 23 December 2021)
Kuang Hu (Re-designated as Non-Executive Director on 16 December 2021)
Ding Yatao (resigned on 23 December 2021)
Qiao Jiankang (resigned on 23 December 2021)
Independent Non-Executive Directors
Yeung Man Lee
Leung Luen Cheong
Yang Ge
In accordance with Articles 82 to 84 of the Articles of Association of the Company, Mr. Sun Jun and Mr. Kuang Hu will
retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Friday, 17 June 2022 (the
“2022 AGM”) and, being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election.
In accordance with Article 77 of the Company’s Articles of Association, any newly appointed Director shall hold office only
until the first general meeting of the Company after his appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election. Mr. Zhou
Hao and Mr. Huang Junfeng, who were respectively appointed as Executive Director and Non-Executive Director of the
Company with effect from 16 December 2021 and 23 December 2021, shall hold office until the Extraordinary General
Meeting of the Company which will be held on the same date of the 2022 AGM and shall be eligible for re-election.
Mr. Zhou Hao, Mr. Sun Jun, Mr. Huang Junfeng and Mr. Kuang Hu, being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election,
and if re-elected, will hold office from the date of re-election to the earlier of (i) the conclusion of the annual general
meeting of the Company to be held in 2025, and (ii) 30 June 2025, subject to earlier determination in accordance with
the Articles of Association of the Company and/or any applicable laws and regulations.
Mr. Ding Yatao and Mr. Qiao Jiankang resigned as Non-Executive Directors of the Company on 23 December 2021 as
they intend to focus on their work with the GDH group. Each of Mr. Ding and Mr. Qiao has confirmed that he has no
disagreement with the board of Directors and there was no other matter relating to his resignation that needed to be
brought to the attention of the shareholders of the Company.
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DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES
The names of directors who have served on the board of directors of the subsidiaries of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this report are set out below (in alphabetical order):
Mr. Kuang Hu, Ms. Lee Wai Mei, Mr. Sun Jun and Mr. Wang Xia Chen.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT
No Director proposed for re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company has a service contract with the Group
which is not determinable within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS
No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company,
the Company’s subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its parent company was a party and in which a Director or his connected
entity had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
Indemnity provision within the meaning of permitted indemnity provision under the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
for the benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force throughout the year ended 31 December 2021. In
addition, the Company has taken out and kept in force appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for
the Directors and officers of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
As at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors was interested in any business, apart from the Group’s business, which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company was entered into or existed during the year.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SECURITIES
As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which were required to be (i) notified to the Company and the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
the Directors and the chief executive were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); (ii) entered in the
register kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO; or (iii) notified to the Company and the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”), were as follows:

Interests and Short Positions in the Company
Interests in ordinary shares
		
Number of 		
Capacity/nature
ordinary
Long/short
Name of Director
of interests
shares held
position
				
Sun Jun
Note:

Personal

40,000

Long position

Approximate
percentage of
interests held
(Note)
0.007%

The approximate percentage of interests held was calculated on the basis of 538,019,000 ordinary shares of the Company in
issue as at 31 December 2021.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, to the knowledge of the Company, none of the Directors or the chief
executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which are required to be: (i)
notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which the Directors and the chief executive are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); (ii) entered in the register kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or (iii) notified
to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
As at 31 December 2021, so far as is known to any Director or the chief executive of the Company, the following persons
(other than a Director or the chief executive of the Company) had, or were deemed or taken to have interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:
		
Number 		
Capacity/nature
of ordinary
Long/short
Name of Shareholder
of interests
shares held
position
				

Approximate
percentage of
interests held
(Note 1)

廣東南粵集團有限公司
(Guangdong Nam Yue Group
Corporation Limited) (Note 2)

Interest in controlled
corporation

279,769,880

Long position

52%

Guangdong Assets Management
(BVI) No. 11 Limited (Note 3)

Interest in controlled
corporation

279,769,880

Long position

52%

Beneficial owner

279,769,880

Long position

52%

Interest in controlled
corporation

104,050,120

Long position

19.34%

Beneficial owner

104,050,120

Long position

19.34%

南粵(集團)有限公司
(Nam Yue (Group) Company Limited)
廣東粵海控股集團有限公司
(Guangdong Holdings Limited)
(Note 4)
GDH Limited
Notes:
1.

The approximate percentage of interests held was calculated on the basis of 538,019,000 ordinary shares of the Company in
issue as at 31 December 2021.

2.

The attributable interest which 廣東南粵集團有限公司 (Guangdong Nam Yue Group Corporation Limited) has in the Company is
held through its 100% direct interest in Guangdong Assets Management (BVI) No. 11 Limited.

3.

The attributable interest which Guangdong Assets Management (BVI) No. 11 Limited has in the Company is held through its
70% direct interest in 南粵(集團)有限公司 (Nam Yue (Group) Company Limited).

4.

The attributable interest which 廣東粵海控股集團有限公司 (Guangdong Holdings Limited) has in the Company is held through
its 100% direct interest in GDH Limited.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS (CONTINUED)
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, so far as is known to any Director or the chief executive of the
Company, there were no other persons (other than a Director or the chief executive of the Company) who had, or were
deemed or taken to have interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded
in the register kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER
Save as disclosed in notes 19 and 26 to the financial statements, the Group and the controlling shareholders of the
Company had not entered into any other contracts of significance during the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
At no time during the year was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, its holding companies or its fellow subsidiaries a
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors or their spouse or children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the normal course of business of the Group are provided under
note 26 to the financial statements. None of the related party transactions constituted discloseable non-exempted
connected transaction or non-exempted continuing connected transaction under the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
For the year ended 31 December 2021, the amount of purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier represented
approximately 16% of the Group’s total purchases; and the aggregate amount of purchases (excluding the purchases
of items of a capital nature) attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers represented approximately 42% of the
Group’s total purchases. In addition, the amount of turnover attributable to the Group’s largest customer represented
approximately 17% of the Group’s total turnover; and the aggregate amount of the turnover attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers represented approximately 57% of the Group’s total turnover. None of the Directors or their
associates, or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers or customers.

PUBLIC FLOAT
As at the date of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules based on
the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors.
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AUDITOR
A resolution will be proposed at the 2022 AGM for the reappointment of Messrs. Ernst & Young as the independent
auditor of the Company.

By Order of the Board
Zhou Hao
Chairman
Hong Kong, 25 March 2022
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Corporate Governance Report
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Group recognizes the importance of achieving the highest standard of corporate governance consistent with the
needs and requirements of its business and the best interest of all of its stakeholders and is fully committed to doing so. It
is also with these objectives in mind that the Group has applied the principles of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”), the Company had complied with the code provisions
and, where appropriate, the applicable recommended best practices in the CG Code throughout the year ended
31 December 2021, save as disclosed below:
Due to travel restrictions as a result of the Pandemic, the Chairman of the Company, the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and the chairman of the Audit Committee were unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 18 June 2021 (the “2021 Annual General Meeting”) in person as required by Code Provision F.2.2. Nevertheless,
with the consent of other Directors, Mr. Leung Luen Cheong, an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company
and chairman of the Remuneration Committee, chaired the 2021 Annual General Meeting.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions.
Upon specific enquiry by the Company, all Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required standard as set
out in the Model Code during the year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
As at the date of this annual report, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) comprises two Executive Directors, being
Mr. Zhou Hao and Mr. Sun Jun, two Non-Executive Directors, being Mr. Huang Junfeng and Mr. Kuang Hu and three
Independent Non-Executive Directors, being Mr. Yeung Man Lee, Mr. Leung Luen Cheong and Mr. Yang Ge.
The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic
decisions and performances. The management is delegated with the authority and responsibility by the Board for the
day-to-day management of the Group. Major corporate matters that are specifically delegated by the Board to the
management include the preparation of interim and annual reports and announcements for the Board’s approval before
publishing, execution of business strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board, implementation of adequate systems of
internal controls and risk management procedures, and compliance with relevant statutory and regulatory requirements
and rules and regulations.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
The Board members do not have any financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships with each other.
Such balanced Board composition ensures that strong independence exists across the Board. The biographies of the
Directors are set out in pages 10 to 12 of this annual report, which demonstrate a diversity of skills, expertise, experience
and qualifications.
The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well as the operation and financial performance of the
Company, and to review and approve the Company’s annual, interim and quarterly results. During the financial year
ended 31 December 2021, five Board meetings were held and attendance of each Director at the Board meetings is set
out in the section headed “BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS” of this report. In addition, the Chairman had held a
meeting with the Independent Non-Executive Directors without the presence of other Directors as required under Code
Provision C.2.7 of the Listing Rules.
Regular Board meetings in each year are scheduled well in advance to facilitate maximum attendance of Directors. At
least fourteen days’ notice of a Board meeting is normally given to all Directors who are provided with an opportunity
to include matters for discussion in the agenda. The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in preparing the agenda
for meetings to comply with all applicable rules and regulations. The agenda and the accompanying Board papers are
normally sent to Directors at least three days before the intended date of a Board meeting. Draft minutes of each Board
meeting are circulated to Directors for their comment before being tabled at the next Board meeting for approval. All
minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection at reasonable time on reasonable notice by any
Director.
According to the current Board practice, if a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the Board
which the Board has determined to be material, the matter will be dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board
Meeting rather than by a written resolution. The articles of association of the Company also stipulate that save for the
exceptions as provided therein, a Director shall abstain from voting and not be counted in the quorum at meetings for
approving any transaction, contract or arrangement in which such Director or any of his/her associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) has a material interest. Every Director is entitled to have access to the Board papers and related materials as
well as to the advice and services of the Company Secretary.

CHAIRMAN AND MANAGING DIRECTOR
As recommended by the Nomination Committee and approved by the Board, Mr. Zhou Hao was appointed Chairman
of the Company in place of Mr. Kuang Hu with effect from 16 December 2021. Mr. Sun Jun acts as the Managing
Director of the Company. The roles of the Chairman and the Managing Director of the Company are clearly defined and
segregated to ensure independence and proper checks and balances.
On top of his executive responsibilities, Mr. Zhou Hao as the Chairman of the Company provides leadership to the Board
and ensures a proper and effective functioning of the Board in the discharge of its responsibilities. Mr. Sun Jun as the
Managing Director is accountable to the Board for the overall implementation of the Company’s strategies and the dayto-day management of the business of the Group.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
All Directors, including Non-Executive Directors, appointed to fill a causal vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board,
shall hold office only until the first general meeting after his appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election.
Moreover, all Non-Executive Directors (including Independent Non-Executive Directors) are appointed for a term of not
more than approximately three years expiring on the earlier of either (i) the conclusion of the annual general meeting of
the Company in the year of the third anniversary of the appointment or re-election of that Director, or (ii) the expiration
of the period within which the annual general meeting of the Company is required to be held in the year of the third
anniversary of the appointment or re-election of that Director and in any event, subject to earlier determination in
accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company and/or applicable laws and regulations.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
During the year under review and up to the date of this report, the Company has complied with the requirements under
Rule 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The Company has received confirmation of independence from the
three Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Yeung Man Lee, Mr. Leung Luen Cheong and Mr. Yang Ge, in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Board as well as the Nomination Committee have reviewed the independence of all Independent Non-Executive
Directors and have concluded that all of them are independent within the definition of the Listing Rules. Further, up to
the date of this report, the Board is not aware of the occurrence of any events which would cause it to believe that the
Independence of any Independent Non-Executive Director has been impaired.

DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
Upon appointment to the Board, each new Director receives an induction package covering business operations, policy
and procedures of the Company as well as the general, statutory and regulatory obligations of being a Director to ensure
that he is sufficiently aware of his responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory requirements.
The Directors are briefed on the amendments to or updates on the relevant laws, rules and regulations. In addition, the
Company encourages the Directors to enroll in a wide range of professional development courses and seminars relating
to the Listing Rules, Hong Kong ordinances and corporate governance practices so that they can continuously update
and further improve their relevant knowledge and skills. Some Directors attended seminars and conferences organized
by government authorities, professional bodies and industrial organizations in relation to corporate governance, updates
on laws, rules and regulations, accounting, financial, management or other professional skills. The Company organized a
seminar for the Directors on 28 October 2021 with topic titled as “The Listing Rules — Recent Regulatory Amendments
and Actions”. Reading materials have also been provided to the Directors to develop and refresh their professional skill.
According to the records kept by the Company, the Directors attended the following trainings during the year ended
31 December 2021.
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DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
(CONTINUED)
Name of Director
Executive Directors
Zhou Hao (appointed on 16 December 2021)
Sun Jun
Non-Executive Directors
Huang Junfeng (appointed on 23 December 2021)
Kuang Hu (Re-designated as Non-Executive Director
on 16 December 2021)
Ding Yatao (resigned on 23 December 2021)
Qiao Jiankang (resigned on 23 December 2021)
Independent Non-Executive Directors
Yeung Man Lee
Leung Luen Cheong
Yang Ge

Seminars and Conferences

Reading materials

✓
✓

✓
✓

—

✓

✓
✓
✓

✓
✓
✓

✓
✓
✓

✓
✓
✓

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY
The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) on 23 August 2013 which sets out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board.
The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diversified Board and sees increasing diversity at
Board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment of the Company’s strategic objectives and sustainable
development.
The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
The Company will also take into consideration its own business model and specific needs from time to time. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board.
The Nomination Committee of the Board has set the measurable objectives based on five focused areas: gender,
age, length of service, professional experience and skills and knowledge for the implementation of Board diversity of
the Company. The Nomination Committee reviews the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its continued
effectiveness from time to time.
As at the date of this report, the Board comprises seven directors. Three of them are Independent Non-Executive
Directors, thereby promoting critical review and control of the management process. The Board has maintained a
balanced composition in terms of age, professional experience, skills and knowledge, and has performed effectively.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (CONTINUED)
Having reviewed the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy and the structure, size and composition of the Board,
the Nomination Committee considered that the requirement of the Board Diversity Policy had been met. Nonetheless
as the Board comprises of single gender Director, the Nomination Committee has recommended the Board to appoint a
director of a different gender no later than 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS
It is the responsibility of the Board to determine the appropriate corporate governance practices applicable to the
Company’s circumstances and to ensure processes and procedures are in place to achieve the Company’s corporate
governance objectives.
The duties of the Board performing corporate governance functions are set out below:
1.

to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;

2.

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of Director and senior management
of the Company;

3.

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4.

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors of the Company; and

5.

to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year under review, the Board considered the following corporate governance issues:
1.

compiled the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting for the year of 2021; and

2.

reviewed the effectiveness of the internal controls and risk management systems of the Company through the
Audit Committee.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Company established the Remuneration Committee in June 2005. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee detailing its authorities and duties are available on the Company’s website. The Remuneration Committee,
with delegated responsibility from the Board, was authorised to determine the remuneration packages of individual
executive directors and senior management.
The Remuneration Committee comprises three Independent Non-Executive Directors, being Mr. Leung Luen Cheong,
Mr. Yeung Man Lee and Mr. Yang Ge. Mr. Leung Luen Cheong is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)
During the financial year ended 31 December 2021, the Remuneration Committee had held one meeting and had passed
three written resolutions to approve the remuneration of the Directors of the Company. The attendance of each member
of the Remuneration Committee is set out in the section headed “BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS” of this report.
Details of the amount of Directors’ remuneration for the year 2021 are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The Company established the Nomination Committee in June 2005. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
detailing its authority and duties are available on the Company’s website.
The Nomination Committee comprises one Executive Director, being Mr. Zhou Hao and three Independent Non-Executive
Directors, being Mr. Yeung Man Lee, Mr. Leung Luen Cheong and Mr. Yang Ge. As recommended by the Nomination
Committee and approved by the Board, Mr. Zhou Hao acts as Chairman of the Nomination Committee in place of
Mr. Kuang Hu with effect from 16 December 2021.
The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board, assisting
the Board in the development and review of the Board’s diversity policy and directors’ nomination policy, identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members, assessing the independence of its Independent NonExecutive Directors in accordance with the criteria prescribed under the Listing Rules and the CG Code, considering the
reappointment of the Directors and succession planning for Directors and making recommendations to the Board in
respect of the aforesaid matters.
The Board adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) on 26 October 2018 to formally set out the criteria and
process in the nomination and appointment of Directors. According to the Nomination Policy, the ultimate responsibility
for selection and appointment of Directors rests with the entire Board or the shareholders in general meeting, as the
case may be. The Board has delegated the relevant screening and evaluation process to the Nomination Committee,
which identifies suitably qualified Director candidates and recommends them to the Board. In assessing the suitability
of a proposed candidate, the Nomination Committee takes into consideration the candidate’s character and integrity,
qualifications, skills, knowledge, experiences relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy, his/her
commitment to enhancing shareholder value and devoting sufficient time to effectively carry out their duties, fulfilment of
the independence requirements as set out in the Listing Rules (for Independent Non-Executive Directors) and diversity on
the Board. After reaching its decision, the Nomination Committee nominates relevant Director candidates to the Board for
approval and appointment. As said above, all Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office until the first general meeting after his or her appointment and shall be eligible for re-election. The
Board will make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed re-election of Directors at general meeting.
During the financial year ended 31 December 2021, the Nomination Committee had held one meeting and had passed
two written resolutions to (i) to review the structure, size and composition of the Board; (ii) to assess the independence
of Independent Non-Executive Directors; (iii) to make recommendations to the Board for the re-election of Directors;
and (iv) to make recommendations to the Board for the change of Chairman, re-designation of Director and changes of
Directors. The attendance of each member of the Nomination Committee is set out in the section headed “BOARD AND
COMMITTEE MEETINGS” of this report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee was established in September 1998. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee detailing the
authority and duties are available on the Company’s website.
The Audit Committee comprises all three Independent Non-Executive Directors, being Mr. Yang Ge, Mr. Yeung Man Lee
and Mr. Leung Luen Cheong. Mr. Yang Ge possesses the required experience and knowledge in the accounting profession
and acts as Chairman of the Audit Committee.
During the financial year ended 31 December 2021, the Audit Committee held four meetings to review the 2020 annual
results, the 2021 interim and quarterly results of the Company before their submission to the Board and monitored
the integrity of such financial statements/financial information. The Audit Committee oversees matters concerning the
external auditors including making recommendations to the Board regarding the appointment of the external auditors,
reviewing the scope of their audit and work and approving their fees. In addition to the four meetings as aforesaid,
the Audit Committee also had a private meeting with the external auditors without the presence of the management
to discuss any area of concern. The Audit Committee further ensures that the management has put in place effective
systems of risk management and internal control and maintains an overview of the Group’s risk assessment, control
and management processes. It reviews the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting function and their training programs and budget. In addition, it reviews
the internal audit schedules of the Group, considers the Group’s internal audit reports and monitors the effectiveness
of the internal audit function. The attendance of each member of the Audit Committee is set out in the section headed
“BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS” of this report.
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BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS
The individual attendance records of each Director at the meetings of the Board, the Nomination Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee as well as the general meeting during the year ended 31 December
2021 are set out below:
		
Board
Name of Director
Meeting
Executive Directors
Zhou Hao
(appointed on 16 December 2021)
Sun Jun
Non-Executive Directors
Huang Junfeng
(appointed on 23 December 2021)
Kuang Hu (re-designated as Non-Executive Director
on 16 December 2021)
Ding Yatao
(resigned on 23 December 2021)
Qiao Jiankang
(resigned on 23 December 2021)
Independent Non-Executive Directors
Yeung Man Lee
Leung Luen Cheong
Yang Ge
Note:

Nomination
Committee
Meeting

Remuneration
Committee
Meeting

Audit
Committee
Meeting

Annual
General
Meeting

0/0
5/5

0/0
—

—
—

—
—

0/0
1/1

0/0

—

—

—

0/0

5/5

1/1

—

—

1/1

3/5

—

—

—

1/1

5/5

—

—

—

1/1

5/5
5/5
5/5

1/1
1/1
1/1

1/1
1/1
1/1

4/4
4/4
4/4

1/1
1/1
1/1

Due to the outbreak of the COVID-19 Pandemic, Mr. Sun Jun, Mr. Kuang Hu, Mr. Ding Yatao, Mr. Qiao Jiankang, Mr. Yeung Man
Lee and Mr. Yang Ge attended the 2021 annual general meeting by video conferencing.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
During the year under review, the remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s auditor, Messrs. Ernst & Young, is set out
as follows:
Services rendered

Fee paid/payable
HK$’000

Audit of 2021 final results
Review of 2021 interim results

1,500
381
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
The Board is responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2021, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flows for
that financial year. In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board has selected
appropriate accounting policies, applied them consistently in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards which are pertinent to its operations and relevant to the financial
statements and, made judgements and estimates that are prudent and reasonable, and have prepared the financial
statements on a going concern basis.
The Company endeavors to present a balanced, clear and comprehensible assessment of the Group’s performance,
position and prospects. The annual, interim and quarterly results of the Company are announced in a timely manner
within the limit of three months, two months and 45 days respectively after the end of the relevant periods in accordance
with the Listing Rules.
As for all information and representations contained in the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2021, the Directors have acknowledged that the Company has adopted all reasonable measures including
prepare and verify it respectively by the financial personnel and the management of the Company, and finally approved
by the Board; the preparation of the statements is the responsibilities of the Board.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal controls, risk management and their effectiveness. The internal
control system has been designed to mitigate the Group’s risk exposure; to facilitate the effectiveness and efficiency
of operations; to safeguard the assets against loss and misappropriation; to maintain proper accounting records for
producing reliable financial information and ensuring compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
The management under the supervision of the internal audit department and the Board has reviewed, among other
things, the profile of the significant risks and identified, evaluated and managed the significant risks faced by the Group
including the changes in the nature and extent of significant risks, and the ability to respond to changes in its business
and the external environment, the scope and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of the risk management and
internal control systems, and updating the systems of risk management and internal control when there are changes to
business environment or regulatory guidelines. In addition, the management review the work of internal audit function
and other assurance providers, the extent and frequency of communication of monitoring results to the Audit Committee
which enables it to assess control of the Group and the effectiveness of risk management, any significant failing or
weaknesses in internal control that have been reported, the necessary actions that are being taken promptly to remedy
any significant failings or weaknesses, and the effectiveness of the Group’s processes for financial reporting and Listing
Rules compliance.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (CONTINUED)
The risk management and internal control systems of the Group comprises a well-established organizational structure
and comprehensive policies and standards. The Board has clearly defined the authorities and key responsibilities of each
operational unit to ensure adequate checks and balances. The management assists the Board in the implementation of
the Board’s relevant policies and procedures on risk and control by identifying and assessing the risks faced, and involving
in the design, operation and monitoring of suitable internal controls to mitigate and control these risks. The key processes
that have been established in reviewing the adequacy and integrity of the system of risk management and internal control
and assessing the effectiveness of internal control include the following:
A defined management structure is maintained with specified limits of authority and control responsibilities, which
is designed to (a) safeguard assets from inappropriate use; (b) maintain proper accounts; (c) ensure compliance with
regulations; and (d) identify, manage and mitigate key risks to the Group.
The Audit Committee is established to, inter alia, review the financial controls, risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and any significant internal control issues identified by the internal audit department, external
auditor, regulatory authorities and management. It also conducts review of the internal audit functions with particular
emphasis on the scope and quality of the internal audits and independence of the internal audit department. During its
annual review, the Audit Committee also considers the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of
the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting function, and their training programmes and budgets.
The internal audit department monitors compliance with policies and procedures and the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems, and highlight significant findings in respect of any non-compliance. It plays
an important role in the Group’s internal control framework, and provides objective assurance to the Board that a
sound internal control system is maintained and operated in compliance with the established processes and standards
by performing periodic checking. Using a risk-based approach, the internal audit department plans its internal audit
schedules annually with audit resources being focused on higher risk areas. It carried out an entity-level risk assessment
which includes identification, evaluation and prioritization of risk factors that the Company is facing. It completed the
risk assessment and has submitted the assessment results (including the annual internal audit plan) to the management
of the Company for review and reported to the Audit Committee and the Board for approval. The internal audit
department issues reports to the Board and relevant management covering various operational and financial processes
of the Group and provides summary reports to the Audit Committee together with the status of implementation of their
recommendation in each Audit Committee meeting.
The Board has conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control covering all
material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management system. The Board is
satisfied that the systems of risk management and internal control in place for the year under review and up to the date
of issuance of the annual report and accounts are reasonably effective and adequate.
There are also procedures including pre-clearance on dealing in the Group’s securities by designated Directors, notification
of regular blackout period and securities dealing restrictions to Directors and relevant employees, and dissemination
of information for specified purposed and on a need-to-know basis have been implemented to guard against possible
mishandling of inside information within the Group.
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COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Chan Miu Ting, the Company Secretary of the Company, is not a full-time employee of the Company. She reports
to the Chairman of the Company and is responsible for advising the Board on corporate governance matters of the
Company. The primary contact person of the Company with Ms. Chan is Mr. Sun Jun, the Managing Director of the
Company. Ms. Chan has confirmed that she has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the
year under review.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Shareholders Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting
Pursuant to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), shareholders of the Company holding
not less than 5% of the total voting rights of all the members having a right to vote at general meeting may request
the Directors to call a general meeting of the Company. The request must state the general nature of the business to be
dealt with at the meeting and may include the text of a resolution that may properly be moved and is intended to be
moved at the meeting. The request may be sent to the Company in hard copy form or in electronic form; and must be
authenticated by the person or persons making it. Directors of the Company must call a meeting with 21 days after the
date on which they become subject to the requirement. The meeting being called must be held on a date not more than
28 days after the date of the notice convening the meeting. If the Directors fail to call the meeting, the shareholders who
requested the meeting, or any of them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
themselves call a general meeting. The meeting must be called for a date not more than three months after the date on
which the Directors become subject to the requirement to call a meeting.
Details of the procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director of the Company are available on
the Company’s website.

Shareholders’ Enquiries and Proposals
Shareholders may direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to the Company’s Share Registrar, Tricor Tengis Limited.
Shareholders may also send written enquiries to the Company, for the attention of the Company Secretary of the
Company by mail or by fax. The contact details of the Company are set out in the “Contact Us” section of the Company’s
website at www.gdtann.com.hk. In addition, the Company is committed to maximizing the use of its website as a channel
to provide updated information in a timely manner and to strengthen communications with both the shareholders and
the public.

Communication with Shareholders
The Company has formulated the “Shareholders Communication Policy” which enables Shareholders to exercise
their rights in an informed manner. The Company actively promotes investor relations and communication with the
investment community throughout the year under review. The Company responds to requests for information and queries
from the investment community including shareholders, analysts and the media through regular briefing meetings,
announcements, conference calls and presentations.
The Board is committed to providing clear and full information on the Company to shareholders through the publication
of notices, announcements, circulars, interim and annual reports. Moreover, additional information on the Company is
also available to shareholders and stakeholders through the Company’s website at www.gdtann.com.hk.

34

GUANGDONG TANNERY LIMITED • Annual Report 2021

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND LEGAL COMPLIANCE
The Group devotes to protect the environment where it operates. Also, it is committed to ensuring compliance of the
environmental standards and the relevant laws and regulations that are applicable to its business operation from time
to time. During the year, except for those disclosed in note 17b (ii) to the financial statements, the Group has obtained
the requisite permits and environmental approvals for its business and production facilities, and has complied with the
relevant laws, rules and regulations. For further information on the work done by the Group in respect to environmental
protection and legal compliance, please refer to the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 6 to 9 in this annual
report and the 2021 Environmental, Social and Governance report.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS
The Company recognizes that our employees, customers and suppliers and business associates are key stakeholders to
the Company’s success. We strive to achieve corporate sustainability through engaging our employees, providing quality
services to our customers, collaborating with business partners (including suppliers and contractors) to deliver quality
sustainable products and services and supporting our community.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the year under review, there are no changes in the Company’s Articles of Association. An up-to-date consolidated
version of the Company’s Articles of Association is available on the Company’s website.

By Order of the Board
Zhou Hao
Chairman
Hong Kong, 25 March 2022
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Ernst & Young
22/F, CITIC Tower
1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong

Ernst & Young
Tel電話:
+852 2846 9888
安永會計師事務所
安永會計師事務所
27/F, One Taikoo Place
Fax傳真:
+852 2868 4432
香港中環添美道1號
香港鰂魚涌英皇道979號
979 King’s Road
中信大廈22樓
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong
ey.com太古坊一座27樓

Tel電話: +852 2846 9888
Fax傳真: +852 2868 4432
ey.com

To the members of Guangdong Tannery Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Guangdong Tannery Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 41 to 116, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in
that context.
We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance
of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)
Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, and right-of-use assets
As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of the
Group’s property, plant and equipment, and right-of-use
assets amounted to approximately HK$58 million.
In view of the operating loss of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2021, management performed an
impairment assessment on these assets. An impairment
loss of approximately HK$4.5 million was recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2021.
For the leasehold land included in right-of-use assets
and buildings, management performed an impairment
assessment with reference to their fair values of these
assets as determined in the valuation performed by an
independent external valuer.

In evaluating management’s impairment assessment,
our procedures included (i) evaluating the independent
external valuer’s competence, capabilities and objectivity;
(ii) involving our internal specialists to evaluate the
discount rate and valuation methodologies; (iii) evaluating
the key assumptions used including sales growth
rate, selling prices, operating expenses and estimated
construction costs with reference to the latest operating
performance and historical data or by benchmarking
market comparables; (iv) performing sensitivity analyses
on key inputs in the discounted cash flows for any
significant impact on the recoverable amount of the
CGU; and (v) assessing the adequacy of the disclosures
of impairment assessment in the consolidated financial
statements.

For plant and equipment, management performed an
impairment assessment on the Group’s cash-generating
unit (the “CGU”) to which the plant and equipment
were allocated to at the end of the reporting period.
The recoverable amount of the CGU was estimated by
a value-in-use approach using a discounted cash flow
calculation.
The assessments require the use of significant judgement
and estimations by management to determine the
key assumptions including sales growth rate, selling
prices, operating expenses, discount rate and estimated
construction costs applied.
Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3, 11 and 12 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)
Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Provision for inventories
As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s inventories, net of
provision, amounted to approximately HK$91.5 million.
Significant management judgement and estimates are
involved in determining the net realisable values of
inventories with reference to, amongst others, the ageing
of inventories, historical sales performance, post yearend sales, latest selling prices and expectation of future
saleability of the inventories.

In evaluating management’s assessment of the provision
for inventories, our audit procedures included (i) obtaining
an understanding of the basis of inventory provision
policy adopted by the Group; (ii) test checking the ageing
of inventory balances and past sales/utilisation history;
and (iii) evaluating the basis of inventory provision made
by management by reviewing the net realisable value of
selected samples with reference to the latest selling prices
and the estimated costs to be incurred for completion
and for sale.

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Fok Lai Ching.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
25 March 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
Year ended 31 December 2021

Notes

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

5

196,231

191,404

Cost of sales

(178,030)

(177,675)

Gross profit

18,201

13,729

1,814
(1,683)

6,180
(1,510)

6

(32,510)
(4,499)
985
(1,994)

(20,033)
(3,183)
6,837
(4,644)

LOSS BEFORE TAX

6

(19,686)

(2,624)

Income tax expense

7

(257)

(127)

(19,943)

(2,751)

REVENUE

5

Other income and gains
Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses
Impairment on items of plant and equipment
Other operating income, net
Finance costs

11

LOSS FOR THE YEAR
LOSS PER SHARE
— Basic
— Diluted

10
HK(3.71) cents

HK(0.51) cent

HK(3.71) cents

HK(0.51) cent
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Year ended 31 December 2021

Notes
LOSS FOR THE YEAR

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

(19,943)

(2,751)

1,330
(333)

440
(110)

997

330

Other comprehensive income that may be reclassified
to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations

6,205

10,677

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR,
NET OF TAX

7,202

11,007

(12,741)

8,256

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified
to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Surplus on revaluation of buildings
Income tax effect

11
21

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR
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2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

45,434
12,622

42,871
12,581

58,056

55,452

91,534
59,629
123
18,942

60,260
72,277
2,600
60,939

170,228

196,076

25,068
23,757
72
—
1,131

43,754
17,269
29
386
1,131

50,028

62,569

NET CURRENT ASSETS

120,200

133,507

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

178,256

188,959

Notes
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

11
12

Total non-current assets
CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories
Receivables, prepayments and deposits
Pledged bank balances
Cash and bank balances

13
14
15
15

Total current assets
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables
Other payables, accruals and provision
Tax payable
Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Due to a PRC joint venture partner

16
17
18
20

Total current liabilities
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)
31 December 2021

Notes
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Loans from the immediate holding company
Other payables
Deferred tax liabilities

19
17
21

Total non-current liabilities
Net assets
EQUITY
Share capital
Other reserves

22
23

Total equity

Zhou Hao
Director
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Sun Jun
Director
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2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

—
—
3,720

137,200
20,428
3,387

3,720

161,015

174,536

27,944

75,032
99,504

75,032
(47,088)

174,536

27,944

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended 31 December 2021

			Equity
			
component of
		
Share convertible
Notes
capital
notes
		 HK$’000
HK$’000
				
At 1 January 2020		

Special
capital Accumulated
reserve
losses
HK$’000
HK$’000
(Note 23(ii))

Total
HK$’000

75,032

5,545

167,746

20,054

4,642

63,193

8,496

419

(329,384)

15,743

Loss for the year		 —
Other comprehensive income for the year:
Changes in fair value of buildings, net of tax		
—
Exchange differences on translation
  
of foreign operations		 —

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(2,751)

(2,751)

—

—

—

—

—

330

—

—

330

—

—

—

—

10,677

—

—

—

10,677

—

—

—

—

—

10,677

330

—

(2,751)

8,256

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(419)

419

—

holding company		 —

—

—

—

3,945

—

—

—

—

3,945

At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021		

75,032

5,545*

167,746*

20,054*

8,587*

73,870*

8,826*

—*

(331,716)*

27,944

Loss for the year		
Other comprehensive income for the year:
Changes in fair value of buildings, net of tax		
Exchange differences on translation
   of foreign operations		

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(19,943)

(19,943)

—

—

—

—

—

—

997

—

—

997

—

—

—

—

—

6,205

—

—

—

6,205

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year		
Capital contribution from the then immediate
holding company
19
Transfer from retained profits of a subsidiary
established in the PRC		

—

—

—

—

—

6,205

997

—

(19,943)

(12,741)

—

—

—

—

159,333

—

—

—

—

159,333

—

—

—

112

—

—

—

—

(112)

—

At 31 December 2021		
75,032
5,545*

167,746*

20,166*

167,920*

80,075*

9,823*

—

(351,771)*

174,536

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year		
Transfer to accumulated losses in accordance
with the undertaking
23(ii)
Capital contribution from the then immediate

*

General			
Exchange
Property
reserve
Reserve
Capital translation revaluation
fund
funds
reserve
reserve
reserve
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000
(Note 23(i)) (Note 23(iii)) (Note 23(iv))			

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated other reserve of HK$99,504,000 (2020: deficits of HK$47,088,000) in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 December 2021

Notes
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Finance income
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Reversal of provision for inventories
Reversal of impairment of trade receivables
Impairment on items of plant and equipment
Impairment of right-of-use assets
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of other receivables
Gain on disposals of items of plant and equipment
Gain on derecognition of lease liabilities
Reversal of accruals and payables

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

(19,686)

(2,624)

1,994
(93)
2,163
324
(2,106)
(573)
4,499
—
26
—
—
(438)

4,644
(136)
3,416
323
(31,244)
(2,173)
3,183
107
(25)
(2,047)
(847)
(3,899)

Decrease/(increase) in inventories
Decrease/(increase) in receivables, prepayments and deposits
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables
Increase/(decrease) in other payables, accruals and provision
Decrease in interest-bearing bank borrowings

(13,890)
(26,949)
15,096
(19,655)
6,785
(391)

(31,322)
53,740
(9,410)
7,572
(2,754)
(2,812)

Cash generated from/(used in) operations
Interest received
Interest paid
PRC tax paid

(39,004)
93
(278)
(216)

15,014
136
(441)
(163)

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities

(39,405)

14,546

46

6
5
6
6
6
6
11
12
6
5
6
6
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2021

Notes

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment
Increase in right-of-use assets
Proceeds from disposals of items of plant and equipment
Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank balances

(5,755)
—
—
2,515

(4,865)
(904)
2,084
(1,560)

Net cash flows used in investing activities

(3,240)

(5,245)

(415)

(582)

(43,060)
60,939
1,063

8,719
48,832
3,388

18,942

60,939

18,942

60,939

CASH FLOWS FROM A FINANCING ACTIVITY
Principal portion of lease payments and net cash flows used
in a financing activity
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances

15
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Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2021

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
Guangdong Tannery Limited is a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The registered office of the
Company is located at 29/F, Guangdong Investment Tower, 148 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong.
During the year, the Group was principally engaged in the processing and sale of semi-finished and finished
leather.
During the year ended 31 December 2020, GDH Limited (“GDH”), a company incorporated in Hong Kong, was
the immediate holding company of the Company. In September 2021, 52% of equity interests of the Company
were transferred from GDH to Nam Yue (Group) Company Limited (“Nam Yue”), a company incorporated in
Macao, and Nam Yue became the immediate holding company of the Company. In the opinion of the directors,
廣東南粵集團有限公司 (Guangdong Nam Yue Group Corporation Limited), which is established in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”), is the ultimate holding company of the Company thereafter.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:
			Percentage
			
of equity
Place of		
attributable to
registration
Registered
the Company
Principal
Name
and business
share capital
Direct
activities
			
(%)
徐州港威皮革有限公司
PRC/Mainland
RMB18,000,000
100
Lease of plant
(Xuzhou Gangwei Leather	  China			  and machinery
  Co., Ltd.) +				  and leather
				 trading
徐州南海皮廠有限公司
PRC/Mainland
US$10,450,000
100
Processing of
(Xuzhou Nanhai Leather	  China			  cowhides and
   Factory Co., Ltd.) +				  leather trading
粵海制革(徐州)有限公司
PRC/Mainland
US$9,000,000
100
Lease of plant
(Guangdong Tannery	 China			 and machinery
  (Xuzhou) Limited) +
+

Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year and formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
31 December 2021

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for buildings classified as property, plant and equipment and bills
receivable which have been measured at fair value as further explained in note 2.4 to the financial statements.
These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (HK$’000) except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2021. A subsidiary is an entity (including
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).
When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:
(a)

the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

(b)

rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)

the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the parent of
the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
31 December 2021

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)
If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any
investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.
Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16
Amendment to HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 (early adopted)

The adoption of the above revised HKFRSs has had no significant financial effects on these financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
31 December 2021

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective,
in these financial statements.
Amendments to HKFRS 3
Reference to the Conceptual Framework1
Amendments to HKFRS 10
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate
and HKAS 28 (2011)	  or Joint Venture3
HKFRS 17
Insurance Contracts2
Amendments to HKFRS 17
Insurance Contracts2, 5
Amendment to HKFRS 17
Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 — Comparative Information2
Amendments to HKAS 1
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current2, 4
Amendments to HKAS 1
Disclosure of Accounting Policies2
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2
Amendments to HKAS 8
Definition of Accounting Estimates2
Amendments to HKAS 12
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
	 
Transaction2
Amendments to HKAS 16
Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use1
Amendments to HKAS 37
Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract1
Annual Improvements to
Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, Illustrative Examples accompanying
HKFRSs 2018-2020	  HKFRS 16, and HKAS 411
1
2
3
4

5

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised in October
2020 to align the corresponding wording with no change in conclusion
As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the
temporary exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before
1 January 2023

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable to the Group is described below.
Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a reference to the previous Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements with a reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued
in June 2018 without significantly changing its requirements. The amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an exception
to its recognition principle for an entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes
an asset or a liability. The exception specifies that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within
the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were incurred separately rather than assumed in a business
combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of the
Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent assets do not qualify for recognition
at the acquisition date. The Group expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 January 2022. Since the
amendments apply prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the date of
first application, the Group will not be affected by these amendments on the date of transition.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
31 December 2021

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments specify that if an entity’s right to defer settlement
of a liability is subject to the entity complying with specified conditions, the entity has a right to defer settlement
of the liability at the end of the reporting period if it complies with those conditions at that date. Classification of
a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of the liability. The
amendments also clarify the situations that are considered a settlement of a liability. The amendments are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies require entities to disclose their material accounting
policy information rather than their significant accounting policies. Accounting policy information is material if,
when considered together with other information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on
how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier application is permitted. Since the guidance
provided in the amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory, an effective date for these
amendments is not necessary. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments on the Group’s
accounting policy disclosures.
Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts in financial statements that are
subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how entities use measurement techniques and
inputs to develop accounting estimates. The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates that
occur on or after the start of that period. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial recognition exception so that it no longer applies
to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are required to recognise a deferred tax asset and a deferred
tax liability for temporary differences arising from these transactions. The amendments are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied to transactions related to leases and
decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented, with any cumulative
effect recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits or other component of equity as
appropriate at that date. In addition, the amendments shall be applied prospectively to transactions other than
leases and decommissioning obligations. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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31 December 2021

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)
Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises
the proceeds from selling any such items, and the cost of those items, in profit or loss. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied retrospectively only to items
of property, plant and equipment made available for use on or after the beginning of the earliest period presented
in the financial statements in which the entity first applies the amendments. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, Illustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the amendments that are expected to be applicable to the
Group are as follows:
•

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an entity includes when assessing whether the terms
of a new or modified financial liability are substantially different from the terms of the original financial
liability. These fees include only those paid or received between the borrower and the lender, including fees
paid or received by either the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. An entity applies the amendment to
financial liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period
in which the entity first applies the amendment. The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2022. Earlier application is permitted. The amendment is not expected to have a
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

•

HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements
in Illustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16. This removes potential confusion regarding the
treatment of lease incentives when applying HKFRS 16.

Except for the above, the Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact of these revised HKFRSs
upon initial application. The Group is not yet in a position to state whether they would have a significant impact
on the Group’s results of operation and financial position.
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31 December 2021

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Fair value measurement
The Group measures its buildings and bills receivable at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value
is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability
is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming
that market participants act in their economic best interest.
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.
The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data
are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement as a whole:
Level 1
Level 2

—
—

Level 3

—

based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly
based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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31 December 2021

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment of non-financial assets
Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cashgenerating unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating
unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cashgenerating units.
An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued amount.
An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such
an impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance
with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(a)

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person
(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii)

has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)

is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Related parties (Continued)
(b)

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:
(i)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii)

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii)

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv)

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

(vi)

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii)

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii)

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Plant and equipment, other than construction in progress and buildings, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use.
Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives
and depreciates them accordingly.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (Continued)
Buildings are stated at valuation. Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that the fair value of
a revalued asset does not differ materially from its carrying amount. Changes in the values of property, plant
and equipment are dealt with as movements in the property revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve is
insufficient to cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis, the excess of the deficit is charged to the statement of
profit or loss. Any subsequent revaluation surplus is credited to the statement of profit or loss to the extent of the
deficit previously charged. An annual transfer from the property revaluation reserve to retained profits is made for
the difference between the depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of an asset and the depreciation
based on the asset’s original cost. On disposal of a revalued asset, the relevant portion of the property revaluation
reserve realised in respect of previous valuations is transferred to retained profits as a movement in reserves.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost or valuation of each item of property,
plant and equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:
Buildings
Leasehold improvements
Plant and machinery
Electronic equipment
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles

2% to 10%
4% to 20%
10% to 12.5%
20%
15% to 20%
15% to 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of that
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values,
useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year
end.
An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal
or retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
Construction in progress represents machinery and equipment under construction. It is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction during the period of
construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leases
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.
The Group as a lessee
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.
(a)

Right-of-use assets
Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the lease (that is the date the underlying
asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use
assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the
assets as follows:
Leasehold land
Office properties

(b)

Over the lease terms
Over the lease terms

Lease liabilities
Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including insubstance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group
and payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
(b)

Lease liabilities (Continued)
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After
the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if
there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.
The Group’s lease liabilities are included in other payables, accruals and provision.

(c)

Short-term leases and lease of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of properties (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option). It also applies the recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases of
properties that are considered to be of low value.
Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets of the Group are classified, at initial recognition, as and subsequently measured at amortised cost
and fair value through other comprehensive income.
The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that
do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient of
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at
its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)
In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”)
on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss.
All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
The Group’s financial assets measured at amortised cost include trade receivables, other receivables and deposits,
pledged bank balances and cash and bank balances.
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method and are subject
to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (debt instruments)
The Group’s financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income include bills receivable.
For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income, finance income, foreign exchange
revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and computed
in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised in
other comprehensive income is recycled to the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:
•

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

•

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and
the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.
Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower
of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be
required to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at
fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.
General approach
ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECLs). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECLs).
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking information.
For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income, the Group applies the low credit risk
simplification. At each reporting date, the Group evaluates whether the debt investments are considered to have
low credit risk using all reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort. In
making that evaluation, the Group reassesses the external credit ratings of the debt investments. In addition, the
Group considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than
30 days past due.
The Group considers a financial asset other than trade and bills receivables in default when contractual payments
are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written
off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income and financial assets at amortised cost
are subject to impairment under the general approach and they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)
Stage 1

—

Stage 2

—

Stage 3

—

Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs
Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach
For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in
credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
For trade receivables that contain a significant financing component and lease receivables, the Group chooses as
its accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as described above.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and borrowings, or payables, as appropriate.
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.
The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables, financial liabilities included in other payables, accruals and
provision, an amount due to a PRC joint venture partner, loans from the then immediate holding company and
bank borrowings.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as
well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs
in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted average
basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.
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Cash and cash equivalents (Continued)
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions
A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in
the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the statement
of profit or loss.
Provisions for staff redundancy payments and compensation to a PRC joint venture partner for early termination of
a joint venture agreement are determined based on the relevant employment contracts and the terms of the joint
venture agreement.
Provision for penalty regarding to violations of environmental regulations are determined based on the relevant
rules and the legal opinion provided by the Group's legal counsel.

Income tax
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside the profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.
Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:
•

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

•

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with interests in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Income tax (Continued)
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:
•

when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

•

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with interests in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants
Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is
recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to compensate,
are expensed.
Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and released
to the statement of profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.
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Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.
When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to
which the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
When the contract contains a financing component which provides the customer with a significant benefit of
financing the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at the
present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction between the Group and the customer at contract inception. When the contract contains a
financing component which provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under the effective
interest method. For a contract where the period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the
promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant
financing component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the
customer, generally on delivery of the goods.
Other income
Finance income
Finance income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
Income from subcontracted leather processing
Income from subcontracted leather processing is recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is
transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the goods.
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Revenue recognition (Continued)
Other income (Continued)
Sale of scrap goods
Income from the sales of scrap goods is recognised at the point in time when control of goods is transferred to the
customer, generally on delivery of the goods.

Contract liabilities
A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a
customer before the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to the
customer).

Employee benefits
Pension schemes
The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s employer voluntary contributions, which are proportionally refunded to the
Group upon employee’s termination of services in accordance with the vesting scales of the MPF Scheme.
The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme (the “PRC Scheme”) operated by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the PRC Scheme. The contributions are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the PRC Scheme.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part
of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
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Foreign currencies
These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the
gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss, respectively).
In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income on the
derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date
of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability arising from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.
The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the
end of each reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into the Hong Kong dollars
at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.
The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange translation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows
of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.
Provision for inventories
Management reviews the condition of inventories of the Group at the end of each reporting period and makes
provision for obsolete and slow-moving inventory items. Management also estimates the net realisable value
for such inventories based primarily on the ageing of inventories, historical sales performances, post year-end
sales, latest selling prices and expectation of future saleability of the inventories. Management reassesses the
estimation at the end of each reporting period. The carrying amount of inventories as at 31 December 2021 was
HK$91,534,000 (2020: HK$60,260,000). Further details are set out in note 13 to the financial statements.
Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by geography and
customer type).
The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the
matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. At each reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.
The application of forward-looking adjustment is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative of a customer’s actual default in the future. The information
about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in note 14 to the financial statements. The carrying
amount of trade receivables was HK$35,140,000 (2020: HK$32,527,000).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment of plant and equipment and leased properties
The Group assesses whether there is any indication that plant and equipment, and leased properties included in
right-of-use assets may be impaired. If any indication exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
Group’s cash-generating unit (the “CGU”) to which the plant and equipment, and the leased properties belong
to. The Group measures the recoverable amount of the CGU with reference to the higher of fair value less cost
of disposal and its value in use. The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the plant and equipment and leased properties and apply a suitable discount rate in order
to calculate their present values. As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of plant and equipment, and
leased properties was nil (2020: Nil). Further details are set out in notes 11 and 12 to the financial statements.
Estimation of fair value of land and buildings
In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar land and buildings, the Group considers information
from a variety of sources, including:
(a)

current prices in an active market for land and buildings of a different nature, condition or location,
adjusted to reflect those differences;

(b)

recent prices of similar land and buildings on less active markets, with adjustments to reflect any changes
in economic conditions since the date of the transactions that occurred at those prices; and

(c)

the depreciated replacement cost method based on the estimated hard and soft costs of construction
per square metre supported by current construction costs for similar buildings in the neighbourhood and
estimated construction period with adjustments to reflect current conditions of the assets.

The carrying amounts of land and buildings at 31 December 2021 were HK$12,622,000 (2020: HK$12,581,000)
and HK$45,434,000 (2020: HK$42,871,000), respectively. Further details are set out in notes 11 and 12 to the
financial statements.
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4.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
No separate analysis of operating segment information is presented by the Group as over 90% of the Group’s
revenue, results and assets related to the processing and sale of semi-finished and finished leather in Mainland
China during the year.

Information about major customers
Revenues from the following customers individually contributed over 10% of the consolidated revenue of the
Group are as follows:

Customer A
Customer B
Customer C

5.

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

34,286
28,446
25,809

20,961
48,662
28,232

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

196,231

191,404

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
An analysis of revenue is as follows:

Revenue from contracts with customers
Sale of processed leather

Revenue from contracts with customers
(i)

Disaggregated revenue information
Revenue is recognised when goods are transferred at a point in time to customers. The amount of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that was included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period was HK$19,000 (2020: HK$119,000).
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5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(ii)

Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance obligations is summarised below:
Sale of goods
The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the goods at a point in time and payment is
generally due within 90 to 180 days from the date of delivery, except for new customers, where payment
in advance is normally required.

Other income and gains
Finance income
Sale of scrap materials
Government grants*
Gain on disposals of items of plant and equipment
Income from subcontracted leather processing
Net exchange gains
Others

*

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

93
656
777
—
164
96
28

136
709
1,724
2,047
200
439
925

1,814

6,180

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group received HK$777,000 (2020: HK$1,724,000) from
the PRC local government as a support to the Group’s PRC operations. There are no unfulfilled conditions or
contingencies relating to these grants.
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6.

LOSS BEFORE TAX
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Cost of inventories sold
Auditor’s remuneration
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Notes

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

11
12

180,136
1,500
2,163
324

208,919
1,500
3,416
323

255
23
1,276
440

381
60
3,655
548

1,994

4,644

27,341

25,035

4,817

1,852

32,158

26,887

(2,106)

(31,244)

Interests on:
Bank loans and discounting bills receivable to banks
Lease liabilities
Loans from the then immediate holding company
Due to the then immediate holding company

Employee benefit expense (excluding directors’
remuneration (note 8)):
Wages and salaries
Pension scheme contributions (defined contribution
  schemes)*

Reversal of provision for inventories**
Lease payments not included in the measurement
of lease liabilities

4

Reversal of impairment of financial assets, net
Reversal of impairment of trade receivables#

14

(573)

Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of financial assets
   included in other receivables, prepayments
   and deposits, net#

14

26

Impairment of right-of-use assets#

12

Reversal of payables and accruals#
Gain on derecognition of lease liabilities#
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(2,173)

(25)

(547)

(2,198)

—
(438)
—

107
(3,899)
(847)

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
31 December 2021

6.

7.

LOSS BEFORE TAX (CONTINUED)
*

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of
contributions.

**

This item is included in the “Cost of sales” on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

#

These items are included in the “Other operating income, net” on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

INCOME TAX
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group did not generate any assessable profits arising
in Hong Kong during the year (2020: Nil). Taxes on profits assessable in Mainland China have been calculated at
the rate of tax prevailing in Mainland China in which the Group operates.
2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

Current — Mainland China
Charge for the year

257

127

Total tax charge for the year

257

127

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which
the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rates is as
follows:
2021
		Mainland
Hong Kong
China
HK$’000
HK$’000
Loss before tax
Tax at the statutory tax rate
Income not subject to tax
Expenses not deductible for tax
Tax losses not recognised
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate

Total
HK$’000

(5,908)

(13,778)

(19,686)

(975)
—
390
585

(3,444)
(3,760)
5,312
2,149

(4,419)
(3,760)
5,702
2,734

—
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7.

INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)
2020
		Mainland
Hong Kong
China
HK$’000
HK$’000
Profit/(loss) before tax

(9,083)

6,459

(2,624)

Tax at the statutory tax rate
Income not subject to tax
Expenses not deductible for tax
Tax losses not recognised

(1,498)
(3,345)
4,050
793

1,615
(13,197)
2,878
8,831

117
(16,542)
6,928
9,624

—

127

127

Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate

8.

Total
HK$’000

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation, is as follows:

76

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

Fees

450

381

Other emoluments:
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
Pension scheme contributions

778
123

575
132

901

707

1,351

1,088
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8.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)
(a)

Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the year were as follows:

Mr.
Mr.
Mr.
Mr.
Mr.
Mr.

Fung Lak*
Choi Kam Fai, Thomas*
Chan Cheong Tat*
Yeung Man Lee^
Leung Luen Cheong^
Yang Ge^

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

—
—
—
150
150
150

70
70
70
57
57
57

450

381

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-executive directors during the year (2020:
Nil).

(b)

Executive directors and non-executive directors
		Salaries,
		
allowances
		
and benefits
Fees
in kind
HK$’000
HK$’000

Pension
scheme
contributions
HK$’000

Total
remuneration
HK$’000

2021
Executive directors:
Mr. Zhou Hao (Chairman)#
Mr. Sun Jun
(Managing Director)

Non-executive directors:
Mr. Ding Yatao@
Mr. Qiao Jiankang@
Mr. Huang Junfeng+
Mr. Kuang Hu**

—

—

—

—

—

778

123

901

—

778

123

901

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

—

—

—

—

—

778

123

901
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8.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)
(b)

Executive directors and non-executive directors (continued)
		Salaries,
		allowances
		
and benefits
Fees
in kind
HK$’000
HK$’000

Pension
scheme
contributions
HK$’000

Total
remuneration
HK$’000

2020

Executive directors:
Mr. Kuang Hu (Chairman)**
Mr. Sun Jun
(Managing Director)

Non-executive directors:
Mr. Ding Yatao@
Mr. Qiao Jiankang@

—

—

—

—

—

575

132

707

—

575

132

707

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

—

—

—

—

575

132

707

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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*

Mr. Fung Lak, Mr. Choi Kam Fai, Thomas and Mr. Chan Cheong Tat resigned/retired as independent
non-executive directors of the Company on 19 June 2020.

^

Mr. Yeung Man Lee, Mr. Leung Luen Cheong and Mr. Yang Ge were appointed as independent non-executive
directors of the Company on 14 August 2020.

#

Mr. Zhao Hao was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 16 December 2021.

**

Mr. Kuang Hu was re-designated from an executive director to a non-executive director of the Company on 16
December 2021.

@

Mr. Ding Yatao and Mr. Qiao Jiankang resigned as non-executive directors of the Company on 23 December
2021.

+

Mr. Huang Junfeng was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company on 23 December 2021.
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9.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year included one (2020: one) director, details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining four (2020: four)
highest paid employees who are not directors of the Company are as follows:

Salaries and allowances
Pension scheme contributions

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

1,458
305

1,236
232

1,763

1,468

The number of non-director highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following band is as
follows:
Number of employees

Nil to HK$1,000,000

2021

2020

4

4

10. LOSS PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based on the loss for the year and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of 538,019,000 (2020: 538,019,000) in issue during the year.
The calculation of basic loss per share is based on:

Loss
Loss for the year, used in the basic loss per share calculation

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

19,943

2,751

Number of shares

Shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during
the year used in the basic loss per share calculation

2021

2020

538,019,000

538,019,000

No adjustment has been made to the calculation of the basic loss per share amounts presented for the years
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 as there was no dilutive event during the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2020.
GUANGDONG TANNERY LIMITED • Annual Report 2021

79

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
31 December 2021

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
					
Furniture,
		
Leasehold
Plant and
Electronic fixtures and
Buildings improvements
machinery
equipment
equipment
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000

Motor
vehicles
HK$’000

Construction
in progress
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

31 December 2021
At 31 December 2020 and
1 January 2021:
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation
  and impairment

42,871

26,120

110,082

3,506

444

6,037

1,966

191,026

—

(26,120)

(110,082)

(3,506)

(444)

(6,037)

(1,966)

(148,155)

42,871

—

—

—

—

—

—

42,871

At 1 January 2021, net of accumulated
depreciation and impairment
Additions
Surplus on revaluation (note (a))
Impairment (note (b))
Depreciation provided during the year
Transfer
Exchange realignment

42,871
—
1,330
—
(1,910)
1,003
2,140

—
1,291
—
(1,155)
(136)
—
—

—
309
—
(3,027)
(114)
2,832
—

—
79
—
(76)
(3)
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
4,076
—
(241)
—
(3,835)
—

42,871
5,755
1,330
(4,499)
(2,163)
—
2,140

At 31 December 2021, net of accumulated
depreciation and impairment

45,434

—

—

—

—

—

—

45,434

45,434

26,528

117,564

3,689

444

6,149

553

200,361

—

(26,528)

(117,564)

(3,689)

(444)

(6,149)

(553)

(154,927)

45,434

—

—

—

—

—

—

45,434

—
45,434

26,528
—

117,564
—

3,689
—

444
—

6,149
—

553
—

154,927
45,434

45,434

26,528

117,564

3,689

444

6,149

553

200,361

Net carrying amount

At 31 December 2021:
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation and
  impairment
Net carrying amount
Analysis of cost or valuation:
At cost
At 31 December 2021 valuation

80

GUANGDONG TANNERY LIMITED • Annual Report 2021

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
31 December 2021

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
					
Furniture,
		
Leasehold
Plant and
Electronic
fixtures and
Buildings improvements
machinery
equipment
equipment
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000

Motor
vehicles
HK$’000

Construction
in progress
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

31 December 2020
At 1 January 2020:
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation and impairment

42,484
—

23,389
(23,389)

119,924
(119,924)

3,386
(3,386)

497
(497)

5,911
(5,911)

329
(329)

195,920
(153,436)

42,484

—

—

—

—

—

—

42,484

At 1 January 2020, net of accumulated
depreciation and impairment
Additions
Surplus on revaluation (note (a))
Impairment (note (b))
Depreciation provided during the year
Transfer
Disposals
Exchange realignment

42,484
—
440
—
(1,771)
—
—
1,718

—
1,086
—
(488)
(673)
75
—
—

—
896
—
(615)
(948)
703
(36)
—

—
110
—
(217)
(10)
117
—
—

—
12
—
(11)
(1)
—
—
—

—
—
—
(285)
(13)
299
(1)
—

—
2,761
—
(1,567)
—
(1,194)
—
—

42,484
4,865
440
(3,183)
(3,416)
—
(37)
1,718

At 31 December 2020, net of accumulated
depreciation and impairment

42,871

—

—

—

—

—

—

42,871

42,871

26,120

110,082

3,506

444

6,037

1,966

191,026

—

(26,120)

(110,082)

(3,506)

(444)

(6,037)

(1,966)

(148,155)

42,871

—

—

—

—

—

—

42,871

—
42,871

26,120
—

110,082
—

3,506
—

444
—

6,037
—

1,966
—

148,155
42,871

42,871

26,120

110,082

3,506

444

6,037

1,966

191,026

Net carrying amount

At 31 December 2020:
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation and
  
impairment
Net carrying amount
Analysis of cost or valuation:
At cost
At 31 December 2020 valuation
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
Notes:
(a)

The Group’s buildings were revalued individually at 31 December 2021 based on the valuations performed by Vigers
Appraisal & Consulting Limited, independent professionally qualified valuers, at an aggregate value of HK$45,434,000
(2020: HK$42,871,000) based on their existing use, with a revaluation surplus of HK$1,330,000 (2020: HK$440,000)
credited to other comprehensive income.
Had these buildings been carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, their carrying
amounts as at 31 December 2021 would have been approximately HK$29,897,000 (2020: HK$29,939,000).
Each year, the Group appoints an external valuer to be responsible for external valuations of the Group’s properties.
Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether professional standards are
maintained. Management has discussion with the valuers on the valuation assumptions and valuation results when the
valuation is performed at each interim and annual reporting date.
Fair value hierarchy
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s buildings:
Fair value measurement as at
31 December 2021 using
Quoted prices
in active
markets
(Level 1)
HK$’000
Recurring fair value measurement
for properties held for own use

—

Significant
observable
inputs
(Level 2)
HK$’000

—

Significant
unobservable
inputs
(Level 3)
HK$’000

45,434

Fair value measurement as at
31 December 2020 using

Recurring fair value measurement for
properties held for own use

Quoted prices
in active
markets
(Level 1)
HK$’000

Significant
observable
inputs
(Level 2)
HK$’000

Significant
unobservable
inputs
(Level 3)
HK$’000

—

—

42,871

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or
out of Level 3 (2020: Nil).
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
Notes: (continued)
(a)

(continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:
Properties held
for own use
HK$’000
Carrying amount at 1 January 2020

42,484

Depreciation charge for the year
Gain from fair value measurement recognised in other comprehensive income
Exchange realignment

(1,771)
440
1,718

Carrying amount at 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021

42,871

Transfer for the year
Depreciation charge for the year
Gain from fair value measurement recognised in other comprehensive income
Exchange realignment

1,003
(1,910)
1,330
2,140

Carrying amount at 31 December 2021

45,434

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key inputs to the valuation:
Valuation
techniques

Significant
unobservable inputs

2021
Range

2020
Range

Properties held
Depreciated
Estimated hard cost
for own use	  replacement	  of construction
	  cost method	  per square metre

RMB500 to RMB1,300
RMB500 to RMB1,300
per square metre	  per square metre

		Estimated
		  construction period

1 year

		
Estimated soft cost
		  of construction
			

3% to 4.35% on
3% to 4.35% on
estimated hard cost	  estimated hard cost
of construction	  of construction
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
Notes: (continued)
(a)

(continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Depreciated replacement cost approach was adopted in assessing the buildings and structures. Due to the fact that the
nature of the buildings and structures cannot be valued on the basis of market value; they have therefore been valued
on the basis of their depreciated replacement cost. The depreciated replacement cost approach considers the cost to
reproduce or replace in new condition the property appraised in accordance with current construction costs for similar
properties in the locality, with allowance for accrued depreciation as evidenced by an observed condition or obsolescence
percent, whether arising from physical, functional or economic causes. The depreciated replacement cost approach
generally furnishes the most reliable indication of value for properties in the absence of a known market based on
comparable sales.
A significant increase in hard and soft costs of construction in isolation would result in a significant increase in the fair
value of the properties, and vice versa.

(b)

The weakening demand and keen competition in the tannery market persisted during the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020. As a result, the Group’s operating results for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 have been
adversely affected.
In light of the performance of the manufacture and sale of leather business, the directors of the Company reassessed
the recoverable amounts of the Group’s cash-generating unit (the “CGU”) as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December
2020 to which the plant and equipment, and leased properties were allocated with reference to their value in use (the
“VIU”) as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020. Based on the VIU, impairment losses of HK$4,499,000 (2020:
HK$3,183,000) and nil (2020: HK$107,000) on plant and equipment, and leased properties were recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2021, respectively.
According to the VIU, the recoverable amount of nil (2020: Nil) as at 31 December 2021 was determined based on
discounted cash flow calculations which were derived from the present value of expected future cash flows to be
generated from the sale of semi-finished and finished leather. The pre-tax discount rate applied to the projected cash
flows was 14% for 2021 (2020: 15%).

(c)
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At 31 December 2021, certain of the Group’s buildings with a net carrying amount of approximately HK$39,482,000
(2020: HK$37,392,000) were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 27).
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12. LEASES
The Group as a lessee
The Group has lease contracts for various items of office properties used in its operations. Lump sum payments
were made upfront to acquire the leased land from the owners with lease periods of 50 years, and no ongoing
payments will be made under the terms of these land leases. Leases of office properties generally have lease terms
of 2 years (2020: between 2 and 3 years). Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the
leased assets outside the Group.
The Group’s leasehold land is held under medium term leases and is situated in Mainland China.
(a)

Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the movements during the year are as follows:
Leasehold
land
HK$’000

Office
properties
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

As at 1 January 2020
Addition
Depreciation charge
Impairment (note 11(b))
Exchange realignment

11,208
904
(287)
—
756

—
143
(36)
(107)
—

11,208
1,047
(323)
(107)
756

As at 31 December 2020 and
1 January 2021
Depreciation charge
Exchange realignment

12,581
(324)
365

—
—
—

12,581
(324)
365

As at 31 December 2021

12,622

—

12,622

At 31 December 2021, the Group’s leasehold land with a net carrying amount of approximately
HK$12,622,000 (2020: HK$11,629,000) were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group (note 27).
A valuation was performed by Vigers on the fair value of the leasehold land as at 31 December 2021
and 2020. In the valuation of the land, reference has been taken to the sales comparables in the locality.
No impairment loss was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2021 (2020: nil) based on the valuation from Vigers.
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12. LEASES (CONTINUED)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
(b)

Lease liabilities
The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under other payables, accruals and provision) and the
movements during the year are as follows:
2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

441
—
23
(438)
—
5

1,702
143
60
(642)
(847)
25

Carrying amount at 31 December

31

441

Analysed into:
Current portion
Non-current portion

31
—

430
11

Carrying amount at 1 January
Addition
Accretion of interest recognised during the year
Payments
Derecognition
Exchange realignment

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 31 to the financial statements.
(c)

(d)

86

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as follows:
2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

Interest on lease liabilities
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
Expense relating to short-term leases
(included in administrative expenses)
Gain on derecognition of lease liabilities
Impairment of right-of-use assets

23
324

60
323

4
—
—

4
(847)
107

Total amount recognised in profit or loss

351

(353)

The future cash outflows relating to total cash outflows for leases are disclosed in note 25(c) to the
financial statements.
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13. INVENTORIES

Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

16,895
52,106
22,533

14,424
32,327
13,509

91,534

60,260

In view of the changes in selling prices and product demand during the year, management reassessed the net
realisable value of inventories and a reversal of provision of HK$2,106,000 (2020: HK$31,244,000) was made for
the year ended 31 December 2021.

14. RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS
Notes
Trade receivables
Bills receivables
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

(i)
(i)
(ii)

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

35,140
23,005
1,484

32,527
38,440
1,310

59,629

72,277

Notes:
(i)

The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly on credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance
is normally required. Invoices are normally payable within 60 days of issuance, except for certain well-established
customers, where the terms are extended to 150 days. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to
maintain tight control over its outstanding receivables in order to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to
a large number of diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing. The
carrying amounts of trade and bills receivables approximate their fair values.
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14. RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)
Notes: (continued)
(i)

(continued)
An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the settlement due
date, is as follows:

Current
Less than 3 months past due

Impairment

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

58,045
100

70,458
1,074

58,145

71,532

—

(565)

58,145

70,967

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

Movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

At 1 January
Reversal of impairment loss (note 6)
Write-off
Exchange realignment

565
(573)
—
8
—

At 31 December

4,216
(2,173)
(1,542)
64
565

The decrease in the loss allowance of HK$565,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: HK$3,651,000) is the
result of a decrease in trade receivables which were past due as at 31 December 2021.
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date for trade receivables using a provision matrix to measure
ECLs. To measure the ECLs, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days
past due. The calculation of ECLs considered probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable
and supportable information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forwardlooking information. The Group estimated the expected loss rate of trade receivables was minimal as at 31 December
2021.
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14. RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)
Notes: (continued)
(i)

(continued)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:
As at 31 December 2021
Past due
		
Current

Less than
6 months

Total

0%
35,040
—

0%
100
—

0%
35,140
—

Less than
6 months

Total

52.6%
1,074
565

1.71%
33,092
565

Expected credit loss rate
Gross carrying amount (HK$’000)
Expected credit losses (HK$’000)
As at 31 December 2020

Past due
		
Current
Expected credit loss rate
Gross carrying amount (HK$’000)
Expected credit losses (HK$’000)

0%
32,018
—

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date for bills receivables by applying a loss rate approach with
reference to the historical loss record of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions, as appropriate. The Group estimated the expected loss rate of bills receivable
was minimal as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020.
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14. RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)
Notes: (continued)
(ii)

As at 31 December 2021, a provision of HK$383,000 (2020: HK$346,000) was made for other receivables with a gross
carrying amount of HK$383,000 (2020: HK$346,000).
Movements in the provision for impairment of other receivables are as follows:
2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

At 1 January
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) (note 6)
Exchange realignment

346
26
11

350
(25)
21

At 31 December

383

346

The ECLs as at 31 December 2021 were estimated by applying a loss rate approach with reference to the historical loss
record of the Group as at 31 December 2021. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions, as appropriate. The loss rate applied as at 31 December 2021 was 42.6% (2020: 61.9%).
The carrying amounts of other receivables approximate their fair values.

15. CASH AND BANK BALANCES, AND PLEDGED BANK BALANCES
2021
HK$’000

*

2020
HK$’000

Cash and bank balances
Less: Pledged bank balances*

19,065
(123)

63,539
(2,600)

Cash and bank balances

18,942

60,939

As at 31 December 2021, there were bank balances of HK$123,000 (2020: HK$2,600,000) pledged to a bank for
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 27).

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”)
amounted to HK$15,520,000 (2020: HK$60,632,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies;
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
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15. CASH AND BANK BALANCES, AND PLEDGED BANK BALANCES (CONTINUED)
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made
for varying periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged bank
balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. The carrying amounts of cash
and bank balances approximate their fair values.

16. TRADE PAYABLES
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the date of receipt of
goods, is as follows:

Within 3 months
3 to 6 months
Over 6 months

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

16,628
5,440
3,000

29,356
11,444
2,954

25,068

43,754

The trade payables of the Group are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on terms of 90 days. The
carrying amounts of trade payables approximate their fair values.
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17. OTHER PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND PROVISION

Current
Other payables and accruals
Provision
Contract liabilities
Lease liabilities

Non-current
Other payables
Lease liabilities

Notes

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

(a)
(b)
(c)
12(b)

14,043
9,038
645
31

12,586
3,790
463
430

23,757

17,269

—
—

20,417
11

—

20,428

23,757

37,697

(a)
12(b)

Total
Notes:
(a)

As at 31 December 2020, other payables and accruals included accrued interest of HK$20,417,000 due to GDH, the
then immediate holding company, which was interest-free, unsecured, not repayable before 31 July 2023 and arose from
loans from GDH. As at 28 September 2021, the accrued interest of HK$20,857,000 was waived by GDH. Further details
are included in note 19 to the financial statements.
Other payables of the Group are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of three months. The carrying amounts
of other payables approximate their fair values.

(b)

As at 31 December 2021, the balance included (i) a provision in relation to an early termination of a joint venture
agreement of HK$3,901,000 (2020: HK$3,790,000) and (ii) a provision for penalty of HK$5,137,000 (2020: Nil).
(i)
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With respect to the Group’s decision in August 2001 to curtail the operations of 青島南海皮廠有限公司 (Qingdao
Nanhai Tannery Co., Ltd.) (“Qingdao Tannery”), a subsidiary of the Group, due to its continuous losses, provisions
of RMB3,000,000 were made for (a) staff redundancy payments of RMB2,000,000; and (b) compensation
of RMB1,000,000 to the PRC joint venture partner for early termination of the joint venture agreement with
Qingdao Tannery. These provisions were determined based on the relevant employment contracts and the terms
of the joint venture agreement.
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17. OTHER PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND PROVISION (CONTINUED)
Notes: (continued)
(b)

(continued)
(b)

(continued)
Qingdao Tannery is a Sino-foreign co-operative joint venture. Pursuant to the joint venture agreement, the
registered capital of Qingdao Tannery was solely contributed by the Company. The PRC joint venture partner
contributed its plant and equipment for the operations of Qingdao Tannery. The Company is entitled to all its
distributable profits after the payment of an agreed annual fee to the PRC joint venture partner.
During the year ended 31 December 2004, the arbitration proceedings undertaken by the Group and the PRC
joint venture partner were concluded by the China International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commissions
in Shenzhen and Beijing. These proceedings determined that (i) the joint venture agreement of Qingdao Tannery
was terminated with effect from 23 August 2001; (ii) Qingdao Tannery should be liquidated in accordance with
the joint venture agreement and the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC; and (iii) the PRC joint venture
partner’s claim against the Company for an economic loss of RMB15 million due to the termination of the joint
venture agreement was revoked.
As the liquidation of Qingdao Tannery has not been completed, no payment for the provision, additional
provision or reversal of provision was made during the year ended 31 December 2021.

(ii)

(c)

The Group was accused of contravention of certain regulations under 中華人民共和國固體廢物污染環境防治
法 during an inspection of 徐州市睢寧生態環境局 in November 2021 as a result of failure to maintain proper
records of hazardous wastes produced and to make filings to the local authority, and improper transferral,
handling and disposal of these materials. Provision of RMB4,200,000 was made for the penalty of violations. Up
to the approval date of these financial statements, a summons with a penalty of RMB1,488,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,820,000) was received. The provision was determined based on the relevant rules and the legal opinion
provided by the Group’s legal counsel. In the opinion of the Company’s directors, appropriate provision for the
likely outcome was made as at 31 December 2021.

Contract liabilities of HK$645,000 as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: HK$463,000; 1 January 2020:
HK$530,000) include short-term advances received from customers for the sale of processed leather. The increase in
contract liabilities in 2021 (2020: decrease) was mainly due to the increase (2020: decrease) in short-term advances
received from customers in relation to the sale of leather at the end of the year.
As a practical expedient under HKFRS 15, the transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance obligations
(unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are not disclosed as all the remaining performance
obligations in relation to the sale of processed leather are part of contracts that have an original expected duration of
one year or less.
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18. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
2021

2020

Effective		
Effective
interest			
interest
rate
Maturity
Amount
rate
Maturity
Amount
(%)		HK$’000
(%)		HK$’000
Current
Trust receipt loans, secured

N/A

N/A

—

1.50-4.20

2021

386

Non-current
Loans from the immediate
holding company
(note 19)

N/A

N/A

—

1.34-1.96

2023

137,200

			
—			
137,586
2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

Analysed into:
Trust receipt loans, repayable within one year

—

386

Other borrowings repayable
In the third to fifth years, inclusive

—

137,200

—

137,586

The Group’s trust receipt loan facilities amounting to HK$48,924,000 (2020: HK$35,646,000) of which nil was
utilised as at 31 December 2021 (2020: HK$386,000).
The loan facility is secured by (i) the pledge of certain of the Group’s buildings and leasehold land with an
aggregate carrying amount of HK$52,104,000 as at 31 December 2021 (2020: HK$49,021,000) and (ii) the
pledge of certain of the Group’s bank balances amounting to HK$123,000 (2020: HK$2,600,000).
As at 31 December 2020, an unsecured loan facility of HK$35,646,000 from a then fellow subsidiary was not
utilised.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other borrowings approximate their fair values.
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19. LOANS FROM THE IMMEDIATE HOLDING COMPANY
The following table illustrates the loans from GDH, the then immediate holding company of the Company:

Notes
(i)
(ii)
(iii)

Loan A
Loan B
Loan C

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

—
—
—

21,980
62,535
52,685

—

137,200

Notes:
(i)

As at 31 December 2020, the balance represented an unsecured loan from GDH of US$2,920,000, which bore interest
at 3-month LIBOR + 1.17% and was repayable on 31 July 2023.

(ii)

As at 31 December 2020, the balance represented an unsecured loan from GDH of HK$65,000,000, which bore interest
at 3-month HIBOR + 1.17% and was repayable on 31 July 2023.

(iii)

As at 31 December 2020, the balance represented an unsecured loan from GDH of US$7,000,000, which bore interest
at 3-month LIBOR + 1.17% and was repayable on 31 July 2023.

(iv)

On 28 September 2021, GDH entered into an agreement with the Group in which GDH agreed to waive the loans
principal of HK$138,476,000 and accrued interest of HK$20,857,000 due to it. In the opinion of the Company’s
directors, this was contribution from GDH. Accordingly, the loans principal and accrued interest were derecognised and
recorded in capital reserve.

20. DUE TO A PRC JOINT VENTURE PARTNER
The amount due to a PRC joint venture partner is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed terms of repayment.
The carrying amount approximates its fair value.
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21. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
Movements in deferred tax liabilities of the Group during the year are as follows:
Revaluation of
properties
HK$’000
At 1 January 2020
Deferred tax debited to property revaluation reserve

3,277
110

At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021
Deferred tax debited to property revaluation reserve

3,387
333

At 31 December 2021

3,720

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of HK$101,288,000 (2020: HK$97,744,000) that are available for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. As at 31 December 2021, the
Group had tax losses arising in Mainland China of HK$169,211,000 (2020: HK$192,753,000) that would expire
in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. As at
31 December 2021, the Group has deductible temporary differences of HK$32,507,000 (2020: HK$$33,218,000).
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses and deductible temporary differences as
they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time and the directors considered it is not
probable that taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.
Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from
1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied
if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 5%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.
The unremitted earnings of the subsidiaries in Mainland China which represented the aggregate amount of
the temporary differences for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised were HK$727,000 at 31
December 2021 (2020: Nil). At 31 December 2021, no deferred tax liabilities have been recognised for withholding
taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s
subsidiaries established in Mainland China. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries
will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future.
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22. SHARE CAPITAL
Shares

Issued and fully paid:
538,019,000 (2020: 538,019,000) ordinary shares

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

75,032

75,032

23. RESERVES
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior years are presented in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity of the financial statements.
(i)

The general reserve fund of the Group is an undistributable reserve and may not be treated as realised
profits.
On 25 November 1996, a court order confirming the reduction of the share premium account by
HK$133,349,000 was registered by the Registrar of Companies in Hong Kong and the credit arising
therefrom was transferred to the general reserve fund against which goodwill arising on the acquisition of
a subsidiary was eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. In the year ended 31 December 2002,
there was a release of goodwill of HK$133,349,000 in respect of the impairment of an investment in a
subsidiary relating to the goodwill arising from the acquisition of that subsidiary in 1996.
Pursuant to a special resolution passed in the Group’s extraordinary general meeting held on 23 January
1998 and confirmed by the Order of the High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of
the PRC (the “Court”) dated 2 March 1998, the share premium account was reduced by the amount of
HK$34,397,000 and, as undertaken by the Group, a general reserve fund was credited in the books of
accounts of the Group in the same amount for the purpose of setting off, in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group and its subsidiaries, goodwill arising on consolidation in 1997. In 2000 and
2001, there was release of goodwill of HK$12,478,000 and HK$21,919,000, respectively, in respect of
the impairment of investments in subsidiaries relating to the goodwill arising from the acquisition of the
subsidiaries in 1997.
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23. RESERVES (CONTINUED)
(ii)

On 1 February 2011, a special resolution was passed by the shareholders of the Company for approving
the reduction in share premium of the Company (the “Share Premium Reduction”). The purpose of the
Share Premium Reduction is to reduce the credit standing to the share premium account of the Company
to the extent of HK$393,345,845 and to apply the credit arising from such reduction to eliminate the
accumulated losses of the Company by the same amount.
On 22 March 2011, the Court made an order (the “Order”) confirming the Share Premium Reduction.
An office copy of the Order was registered with the Registrar of the Companies on 29 March 2011 (the
“Effective Date”) in accordance with Section 61 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. Accordingly,
the Share Premium Reduction became effective immediately following the registration of the Order of
the Court and the accumulated losses of the Company of HK$393,345,845 were eliminated against the
Company’s share premium account.
In connection with the application for the Share Premium Reduction (the “Application”), the Company
undertakes that in the event of the Company making any future recoveries of the assets identified in the
Application for which provision for impairment in value or amortisation was made in the accounts of the
Company between 31 December 2000 and 30 June 2010 (the “Assets”) beyond their written down values
in the Company’s accounts as at 30 June 2010, all such recoveries beyond that written down values up to
an amount of HK$150,345,170 (the “Limit”) will be credited to a special capital reserve in the accounting
records of the Company (the “Special Capital Reserve”) and the Company undertakes that so long as
there shall remain outstanding any debt of or claim against the Company which, if the Effective Date was
the date of the commencement of the winding up of the Company, would be admissible to proof in such
winding-up and the persons entitled to the benefit of such debts or claims shall not have agreed otherwise,
such reserve shall not be treated as realised profits for the purposes of ss291, 297 and 299 of the new
Companies Ordinance (Cap.622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and shall (for so long as the Company shall
remain a listed company) be treated as an undistributable reserve of the Company for the purposes of
ss290 and 298 of the new Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), or any statutory
re-enactments or modifications thereof provided that:
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(1)

the Company shall be at liberty to apply the Special Capital Reserve for the same purposes as a
share premium account may be applied;

(2)

the Limit in respect of the Special Capital Reserve may be reduced by the amount of any increase,
after the Effective Date, in the amount standing to the credit of the share premium account of
the Company as a result of the paying up of shares by the receipt of new consideration or the
capitalisation of distributable profits;

(3)

the Limit in respect of the Special Capital Reserve may be reduced upon the disposal or other
realisation, after the Effective Date, of the Assets by the amount of the impairment in value and
amortisation made in relation to such asset as at 30 June 2010 less such amount (if any) as is
credited to the Special Capital Reserve as a result of such disposal or realisation; and
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23. RESERVES (CONTINUED)
(ii)

(Continued)
(4)

in the event that the amount standing to the credit of the Special Capital Reserve exceeds the Limit
thereof after any reduction of such Limit pursuant to provisions (2) and/or (3) above, the Company
shall be at liberty to transfer the amount of any such excess to the general reserves of the Company
and the same shall become available for distribution.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, additional provision for impairment of HK$419,000 was made
for the Assets. This resulted in a transfer of HK$419,000 from Special Capital Reserve to the accumulated
losses.
The Limit as at 31 December 2021 was HK$150,273,970 (2020: HK$150,273,970) and the amount
standing to the credit of the Group’s Special Capital Reserve as at 31 December 2021 was nil (2020: Nil).
(iii)

Pursuant to the relevant PRC laws and regulations, a portion of the profits of the Group’s subsidiaries which
are established in Mainland China has been transferred to reserve funds which are restricted as to use.

(iv)

Capital reserve represents the capital contribution from the then immediate holding company.

24. COMMITMENTS
The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the reporting period:

Contracted, but not provided for:
Buildings
Leasehold improvements
Plant and machinery
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2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

21
179
1,633

21
502
578

1,833

1,101
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25. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a)

(b)

Major non-cash transactions
(i)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group entered into an agreement with GDH
pursuant to which GDH agreed to waive the loans to the Group and accrued interests payable
by the Group as at the date of agreement (i.e., 28 September 2021). It resulted in a decrease of
other payables and accruals, and a decrease in loans from the then immediate holding company
of HK$20,857,000 (note 17) and HK$138,476,000 (note 19), respectively. This had no cash flow
impact to the financial statements.

(ii)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group entered into agreements with GDH pursuant
to which GDH agreed to waive interest charged on the loans to the Group for the year ended 31
December 2020 and extended the repayment date of the principal and interest expenses of the
loans to 31 July 2023. It resulted in an increase of other payables and accruals, and a decrease in
loans from the then immediate holding company of HK$2,972,000 and HK$6,917,000, respectively.
This had no cash flow impact to the financial statements.

(iii)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities of HK$143,000 and HK$143,000, respectively, in respect of lease arrangements
for office properties.

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
		 Loans from the
		immediate
Lease
holding
liabilities
company
HK$’000
HK$’000
At 1 January 2020
Changes from financing cash flows
New lease
Interest expense
Interest paid classified as operating cash flows
Modification of loans
Derecognition of a lease
Foreign exchange movement

1,702
(582)
143
60
(60)
—
(847)
25

142,379
—
—
1,738
—
(6,917)
—
—

At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021
Changes from financing cash flows
Interest expense
Interest paid classified as operating cash flows
Waiver of loans
Foreign exchange movement

441
(415)
23
(23)
—
5

137,200
—
1,276
—
(138,476)
—

At 31 December 2021
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25. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(c)

Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of cash flows is as follows:

With operating activities
With financing activities

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

27
415

64
582

442

646

26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a)

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had the
following material transactions with related parties during the year:
2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

(i)

—

228

(ii)

128

122

(iii)

1,716

4,203

(iv)

72

96

Notes
Office rental paid to a then fellow subsidiary
Computer system maintenance service fees paid
to a then fellow subsidiary
Interest expense to the then immediate holding
company
Company secretarial expense to a then fellow
subsidiary
Notes:
(i)

The office rental was charged by a then fellow subsidiary at HK$44,500 per month from 1 January 2020 to 5
February 2020 and HK$46,000 per month from 6 February 2020 to 31 May 2020 in accordance with the terms
of the rental agreement between the Group and the then fellow subsidiary.

(ii)

The maintenance service fees was charged for the computer system used by the Group based on the contractual
terms.

(iii)

The interest expense to the then immediate holding company arose from the loans advanced from GDH. Further
details of the loans, including the terms, are disclosed in note 19 to the financial statements.

(iv)

The company secretarial expense was charged based on the terms mutually agreed by both parties.
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26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(b)

Tenancy agreements with related parties:
On 28 November 2016, the Group entered into a three-year office rental agreement commencing 6
February 2017 and ending 5 February 2020 with Global Head Developments Limited, a then fellow
subsidiary of the Group, with a monthly rent of HK$44,500.
On 17 December 2019, the Group entered into another two-year office rental agreement commencing 6
February 2020 and ending 5 February 2022 with Global Head Developments Limited with a monthly rent of
HK$46,000.
On 29 May 2020, the Group terminated the office rental agreement with Global Head Developments
Limited effective from 31 May 2020.

(c)

(d)

Outstanding balances with related parties:
(i)

Details of the Group’s loans from the then immediate holding company as at the end of the
reporting period are included in note 19 to the financial statements.

(ii)

Details of the Group’s accrued interest arising from loans from the then immediate holding company
as at the end of the reporting period are included in note 17(a) to the financial statements.

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:
The key management personnel are the directors. Details of their remuneration are disclosed in note 8 to
the financial statements.

The related party transactions in respect of items in notes 26(a), 26(b) and 26(c) above constituted connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. However, these
transactions are exempt from reporting, announcement and shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

27. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the Group’s banking facilities are included in notes 11, 12 and 15 to the
financial statements.
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period are
as follows:
2021

Financial assets

Trade receivables
Bills receivable
Financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and deposits
Pledged bank balances
Cash and bank balances

Financial assets
at fair value
through other
comprehensive
income
HK’000

Financial
assets at
amortised
cost
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

—
23,005

35,140
—

35,140
23,005

—
—
—

307
123
18,942

307
123
18,942

23,005

54,512

77,517

Financial liabilities
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
HK$’000
Trade payables
Financial liabilities included in other payables, accruals and provision
Due to a PRC joint venture partner

25,068
10,230
1,131
36,429
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (CONTINUED)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period are
as follows: (Continued)
2020

Financial assets

Trade receivables
Bills receivable
Financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and deposits
Pledged bank balances
Cash and bank balances

Financial assets
at fair value
through other
comprehensive
income
HK’000

Financial
assets at
amortised
cost
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

—
38,440

32,527
—

32,527
38,440

—
—
—

213
2,600
60,939

213
2,600
60,939

38,440

96,279

134,719

Financial liabilities
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
HK$’000
Trade payables
Financial liabilities included in other payables, accruals and provision
Due to a PRC joint venture partner
Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Loans from the then immediate holding company

43,754
33,444
1,131
386
137,200
215,915
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29. TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
Transferred financial assets that are not derecognised in their entirety
At 31 December 2021, the Group endorsed certain bills receivable accepted by banks in Mainland China (the
“Endorsed Bills”) with a carrying amount of RMB3,770,000 (equivalent to HK$4,611,000) (2020: RMB3,972,000
(equivalent to HK$4,720,000)) to certain of its suppliers in order to settle the trade payables due to such suppliers
(the “Endorsement”). In the opinion of the directors, the Group has retained the substantial risks and rewards,
which include default risks relating to such Endorsed Bills, and accordingly, it continued to recognise the full
carrying amounts of the Endorsed Bills and the associated trade payables settled. Subsequent to the Endorsement,
the Group does not retain any rights on the use of the Endorsed Bills, including the sale, transfer or pledge of
the Endorsed Bills to any other third parties. The aggregate carrying amount of the trade payables settled by the
Endorsed Bills to which the suppliers have recourse was RMB3,770,000 (equivalent to HK$4,611,000) (2020:
RMB3,972,000 (equivalent to HK$4,720,000)) as at 31 December 2021.

Transferred financial assets that are derecognised in their entirety
At 31 December 2021, the Group endorsed certain bills receivable accepted by banks in Mainland China (the
“Derecognised Bills”) to certain of its suppliers in order to settle the trade payables due to such suppliers with
a carrying amount of RMB19,974,000 (equivalent to HK$24,430,000) (2020: RMB23,909,000 (equivalent to
HK$28,409,000)). The Derecognised Bills had a maturity from one to nine months (2020: one to six months) at
the end of the reporting period. In accordance with the Law of Negotiable Instruments in the PRC, the holders
of the Derecognised Bills may exercise the right of recourse against any, several or all of the persons liable for the
Derecognised Bills, including the Group, in disregard of the order of precedence (the “Continuing Involvement”).
In the opinion of the directors, the risk of the Group being claimed by the holders of the Derecognised Bills is
remote in the absence of a default of the accepted banks. The Group has transferred substantially all risks and
rewards relating to the Derecognised Bills. Accordingly, it has derecognised the full carrying amounts of the
Derecognised Bills and the associated trade payables. The maximum exposure to loss from the Group’s Continuing
Involvement in the Derecognised Bills and the undiscounted cash flows to repurchase these Derecognised Bills
is equal to their carrying amounts. In the opinion of the directors, the fair values of the Group’s Continuing
Involvement in the Derecognised Bills are not significant.
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group has not recognised any gain or loss on the date of transfer
of the Derecognised Bills. No gains or losses were recognised from the Continuing Involvement, both during the
year or cumulatively. The endorsement has been made evenly throughout the year.
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30. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and bank balances, pledged bank balances, trade
receivables, financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and deposits, trade payables, financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals, interest-bearing bank borrowings, and an amount due to a
PRC joint venture partner approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.
The fair values of bills receivable, loans from the then immediate holding company and the non-current portion of
other payables have been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently available
for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The changes in fair value as a result of
the Group’s own non-performance risk for borrowings as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 were assessed to be
insignificant.
The head of the finance department of the Group is responsible for determining the policies and procedures
for the fair value measurement of financial instruments. The head of the finance department reports directly to
the chief financial officer and the audit committee. At each reporting date, the finance department analyses the
movements in the values of financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief financial officer. The valuation process and results are discussed
with the audit committee twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.
The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the instrument could
be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The
following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:
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30. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)
Fair value hierarchy
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:
Assets measured at fair value:
As at 31 December 2021
Fair value measurement using
Quoted prices
Significant
Significant
in active
observable unobservable
markets
inputs
inputs
(Level 1)
(Level 2)
(Level 3)
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000
Bills receivable

—

23,005

Total
HK$’000

—

23,005

Fair value measurement using
Quoted prices
Significant
Significant
in active
observable unobservable
markets
inputs
inputs
(Level 1)
(Level 2)
(Level 3)
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

As at 31 December 2020

Bills receivable

—

38,440

—

38,440

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurement between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfer
into or out of Level 3 for financial assets (2020: Nil).

GUANGDONG TANNERY LIMITED • Annual Report 2021

107

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
31 December 2021

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-bearing secured bank borrowings, interest-bearing
unsecured other borrowings from the then immediate holding company, pledged bank balances and cash and
bank balances. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.
The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade and bills receivables, and trade payables,
which arise directly from its operations.
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to certain of the Group’s debt
obligations with floating interest rates.
The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost using an appropriate mix of fixed and floating rate borrowings.
Despite the fact that the Group had its debt obligations at floating interest rates, in the opinion of the directors,
the Group had no significant concentration of interest rate risk.
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings).
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Interest rate risk (Continued)
		Decrease/
Increase/
(increase)
(decrease) in
in loss
basis points
before tax
		HK$’000
2021
Hong Kong dollar
United States dollar (“US$”)

100
100

—
—

Hong Kong dollar
US$

(10)
(10)

—
—

2020
Hong Kong dollar
US$

100
100

(650)
(774)

Hong Kong dollar
US$

(10)
(10)

65
77
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Foreign currency risk
The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise from purchases by operating units in
currencies other than the units’ functional currencies. Approximately 49% (2020: 57%) of the Group’s purchases
were denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of the operating units making the purchases,
whilst all sales were denominated in the units’ functional currency.
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change
in the US$-RMB exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax (due to
changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities). There is no impact on the equity of the Group.
Increase/
(decrease) in
exchange
rate
%

110

Decrease/
(increase)
in loss
before tax
HK$’000

2021
If RMB weakens against US$
If RMB strengthens against US$

(3)
3

(1,095)
1,095

2020
If RMB weakens against US$
If RMB strengthens against US$

(3)
3

(2,253)
2,253
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Credit risk
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.
Maximum exposure and year-end staging
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit
policy, which is mainly based on past due information unless other information is available without undue cost or
effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31 December. The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts
for financial assets and the exposure to credit risk.
As at 31 December 2021
12-month
ECLs

Lifetime ECLs

				
Simplified
Stage 1
Stage 2
Stage 3
approach
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000
Trade receivables*
Bills receivable
Financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables
and deposits
— Normal**
Pledged bank balances
— Not yet past due
Cash and bank balances
— Not yet past due

Total
HK$’000

—
23,005

—
—

—
—

35,140
—

35,140
23,005

307

—

—

—

307

123

—

—

—

123

18,942

—

—

—

18,942

42,377

—

—

35,140

77,517
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Credit risk (Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)
As at 31 December 2020
12-month
ECLs

Lifetime ECLs

				
Simplified
Stage 1
Stage 2
Stage 3
approach
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000
Trade receivables*
Bills receivable
Financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables
and deposits
— Normal**
— Doubtful**
Pledged bank balances
— Not yet past due
Cash and bank balances
— Not yet past due

Total
HK$’000

—
38,440

—
—

—
—

33,092
—

33,092
38,440

213
—

—
—

—
346

—
—

213
346

2,600

—

—

—

2,600

60,939

—

—

—

60,939

102,192

—

346

33,092

135,630

*

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach for impairment, information based on the
provision matrix is disclosed in note 14 to the financial statements.

**

The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and deposits is considered to be
“normal” when they are not past due and there is no information indicating that the financial assets had a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be
“doubtful”.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are
disclosed in note 14 to the financial statements.
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had certain concentrations of credit risk as 27% (2020: 37%) of the
Group’s trade receivables were due from a customer.
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
interest-bearing bank and other loans.
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity to ensure it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and cash
equivalents and adequate committed lines of funding from financial institutions and the immediate holding
company to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and long term.
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the respective reporting periods, based on
the contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:
2021
		
On demand
HK$’000
Trade payables
Lease liabilities
Other payables and accruals
(excluding lease liabilities)
Due to a PRC joint venture partner

Less than 3 to less than
3 months 12 months
HK$’000
HK$’000

1 to 5
years
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

8,440
—

16,628
31

—
—

—
—

25,068
31

11,253
1,131

—
—

—
—

—
—

11,253
1,131

20,824

16,659

—

—

37,483

Less than 3 to less than
3 months
12 months
HK$’000
HK$’000

1 to 5
years
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

2020
		
On demand
HK$’000
Trade payables
Lease liabilities
Other payables and accruals
(excluding lease liabilities)
Due to a PRC joint venture partner
Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Loans from the then immediate
holding company

14,398
—

29,356
72

—
361

—
30

43,754
463

12,586
1,131
—

—
—
386

—
—
—

20,905
—
—

33,491
1,131
386

—

—

—

150,365

150,365

28,115

29,814

361

171,300

229,590
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Capital management
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’
value.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were made
in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is total debt divided by the equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company plus total debt. Total debt includes loans from the then immediate holding company and
interest-bearing bank borrowings. The gearing ratios as at the end of the respective reporting periods were as
follows:
2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

Loans from the then immediate holding company
Interest-bearing bank borrowings

—
—

137,200
386

Total debt

—

137,586

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

174,536

27,944

Total debt and equity

174,536

165,530

0%

83%

Gearing ratio

32. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS
Certain comparative amounts in the consolidated statement of financial position have been re-presented to
conform with the current year’s presentation. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the presentation
would better reflect the financial position of the Group.
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33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting period is as
follows:
2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Interests in subsidiaries

—
—
213,396

—
—
158,682

Total non-current assets

213,396

158,682

CURRENT ASSETS
Prepayments, other receivables and deposits
Cash and bank balances

73
3,392

73
2,689

Total current assets

3,465

2,762

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Amount due to a subsidiary
Other payables and accruals

102,707
1,555

33,167
1,676

Total current liabilities

104,262

34,843

(100,797)

(32,081)

112,599

126,601

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Loans from the then immediate holding company
Other payables

—
—

84,515
15,797

Total non-current liabilities

—

100,312

112,599

26,289

75,032
37,567

75,032
(48,743)

112,599

26,289

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

Net assets
EQUITY
Share capital
Other reserves (note)
Total equity

Zhou Hao
Director

Sun Jun
Director
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33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
Note:
A summary of the Company’s other reserves is as follows:
Equity
component
of convertible
notes
HK$’000
At 1 January 2020

General		 Special
reserve
Capital
capital
fund
reserve
reserve
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000

Accumulated
losses
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

5,545

167,746

835

419

(235,472)

(60,927)

Total comprehensive
income for the year

—

—

—

—

9,507

9,507

Transfer to accumulated
losses in accordance
with the undertaking

—

—

—

(419)

419

—

Capital contribution from
the then immediate
holding company

—

—

2,677

—

—

2,677

5,545

167,746

3,512

—

(225,546)

(48,743)

Total comprehensive loss
for the year

—

—

—

—

(15,136)

(15,136)

Capital contribution from
the then immediate
holding company

—

—

101,446

—

5,545

167,746

104,958

—

At 31 December 2020
and 1 January 2021

At 31 December 2021

—
(240,682)

101,446
37,567

34. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 25 March 2022.
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